
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
MEETING
July 6, 2022 

THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED UNDER PROCEDURES AUTHORIZED BY 
ASSEMBLY BILL 361 (RIVAS 2021) ALLOWING REMOTE MEETINGS. THIS 

MEETING WILL BE ACCESSIBLE VIA WEBCAST, TELECONFERENCE, AND ZOOM, 
AS WELL AS IN PERSON. A ZOOM PANELIST LINK WILL BE SENT SEPARATELY 

TO COMMITTEE OR BOARD MEMBERS

•    THE PUBLIC MAY OBSERVE THIS MEETING THROUGH THE WEBCAST BY 
CLICKING THE LINK AVAILABLE ON THE AIR DISTRICT’S AGENDA WEBPAGE 

AT

www.baaqmd.gov/bodagendas

•     MEETING ATTENDEES MAY, IN LIEU OF REMOTE PARTICIPATION, ATTEND 
IN PERSON FOR PUBLIC COMMENT AND/OR OBSERVATION AT 375 BEALE 
STREET, BOARD ROOM (1ST FLOOR). IN-PERSON ATTENDEES MUST PASS 

REQUIRED HEALTH SCREENINGS AND ADHERE TO POSTED PUBLIC HEALTH 
PROTOCOLS WHILE IN THE BULIDING. THE PUBLIC MAY PARTICIPATE 

REMOTELY VIA ZOOM AT THE FOLLOWING LINK OR BY PHONE 

https://bayareametro.zoom.us/j/82740029827
 

(669) 900-6833 or (408) 638-0968

WEBINAR ID: 827 4002 9827

•    THOSE PARTICIPATING BY PHONE WHO WOULD LIKE TO MAKE A COMMENT 
CAN USE THE “RAISE HAND” FEATURE BY DIALING “*9”. IN ORDER TO RECEIVE 
THE FULL ZOOM EXPERIENCE, PLEASE MAKE SURE YOUR APPLICATION IS UP 

TO DATE



BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING
AGENDA

WEDNESDAY, JULY 6, 2022
9:00 AM 

Chairperson, John J. Bauters

1. Call to Order - Roll Call

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Public Meeting Procedure

The Board Chair shall call the meeting to order and the Clerk of the Boards shall take roll 
of the Board members. 

 This meeting will be webcast. To see the webcast, please 
visit www.baaqmd.gov/bodagendas at the time of the meeting. Closed captioning may 
contain errors and omissions and are not certified for their content or form. 

 Public Comment on Agenda Items: The public may comment on each item on the agenda 
as the item is taken up. Members of the public who wish to speak on matters on the agenda 
for the meeting, will have three minutes each to address the Board. No speaker who has 
already spoken on that item will be entitled to speak to that item again.

4. Special Orders of the Day

CONSENT CALENDAR (Items 5 - 13)
 

5. Approval of the Minutes of June 15, 2022

The Board of Directors will consider approving the draft minutes of the Board of Directors 
meeting of June 15, 2022.  

6. Board Communications Received from June 15, 2022 through July 5, 2022.

A copy of communications directed to the Board of Directors received by the Air District 
from June 15, 2022 through July 5, 2022, if any, will be distributed to the Board Members 
by way of email.



7. Remote Teleconferencing per Assembly Bill (AB) 361 (Rivas)

The Board of Directors will consider approving a resolution reauthorizing Air District 
Board and Committee meetings using remote teleconferencing through August 5, 2022.  

8. Authorization to Execute a Master Service Agreement (MSA) with InterEthnica

The Board of Directors will consider authorizing the Interim Executive Officer/APCO to 
execute a Master Service Agreement (MSA) with InterEthnica to support the Community 
Advisory Council, the James Cary Smith Community Grant Program, and the Air District’s 
Community Engagement Work. 

9. Notice of Proposed Amendments to Division I, Section 6.4, of the Administrative Code 
Regarding the Functions of the Administration Committee 

The Board of Directors will receive notice that it will consider at its next regular meeting an 
amendment to the Administrative Code to add two sentences to Division I, Section 6.4, to 
clarify that the functions of the previous Executive Committee and Personnel Committee, 
which were eliminated in 2021, have been taken over by the Administration Committee. 

10. Authorization to Execute a Legal Services Agreement with Shute Mihaly & Weinberger to 
Represent the Air District in Ongoing Litigation Regarding Regulation 6-5

The Board of Directors will consider authorizing the Interim Executive Officer/APCO to 
execute a legal retainer agreement with Shute Mihaly & Weinberger LLP for a total amount 
not to exceed $425,000 to represent the Air District in ongoing litigation regarding District 
Regulation 6, Rule 5; and will consider authorizing the transfer of $425,000 from the 
Litigation Contingency General Fund Reserves to amend the Fiscal Year (FY) 2023 Legal 
Office’s Litigation program budget.  

11. Report of the Legislative Committee Meeting of June 13, 2022

The Board of Directors will receive a report of the Legislative Committee Meeting of June 
13, 2022. 

12. Report of the Stationary Source and Climate Impacts Committee Meeting of June 13, 2022

The Board of Directors will receive a report of the Stationary Source and Climate Impacts 
Committee Meeting of June 13, 2022. 

13. Report of the Administration Committee Meeting of June 15, 2022

The Board of Directors will receive a report of the Administration Committee Meeting June 
15, 2022. 



DISCUSSION (Items 14 - 16)
 

14. Management Audit Report on Priority Recruitments

This item is informational only and will be presented by John Chiladakis, Director of 
Information Services, and George Skiles and Lynda McCallum of Sjoberg Evashenk. 

15. Current Legislation on Potential Amendments to the Brown Act

This is an action item to recommend the Board of Directors discuss and vote on taking a 
position on AB 2449 (Rubio) – Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences, and will be 
presented by Alan Abbs, Legislative Officer. 

16. Vendor Selection for Financial and Compliance Audits

The Board of Directors will consider approving the vendor selection for the Financial 
Audits and Compliance Audits of the Transportation Fund for Clean Air programs and 
projects and authorize the Interim Executive Officer/APCO to execute a contract with 
Simpson & Simpson, LLP for up to a five-year term. This item will be presented by 
Stephanie Osaze, Director of the Finance Division.  

OTHER BUSINESS
 

17. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54954.3
Members of the public who wish to speak on matters not on the agenda for the meeting, will 
have three minutes each to address the Board.

18. Board Member Comments

Any member of the Board, or its staff, on his or her own initiative or in response to 
questions posed by the public, may: ask a question for clarification, make a brief 
announcement or report on his or her own activities, provide a reference to staff regarding 
factual information, request staff to report back at a subsequent meeting concerning any 
matter or take action to direct staff to place a matter of business on a future agenda. (Gov’t 
Code § 54954.2)

19. Report of the Interim Executive Officer/APCO

20. Chairperson’s Report



21. Time and Place of Next Meeting

Wednesday, July 20, 2022, at 9:00 a.m., in person or via webcast, teleconference, or Zoom, 
pursuant to procedures in accordance with Assembly Bill 361 (Rivas 2021). 

CLOSED SESSION
 

22. Public Employee Appointment and Employment (Gov't Code § 54957(b))

Title: Executive Officer/Air Pollution Control Officer 

OPEN SESSION
 

23. Adjournment

The Board meeting shall be adjourned by the Board Chair.



CONTACT:
MANAGER, EXECUTIVE OPERATIONS
375 BEALE STREET, SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105
vjohnson@baaqmd.gov 

(415) 749-4941 
FAX: (415) 928-8560

 BAAQMD homepage: 
www.baaqmd.gov 

Any writing relating to an open session item on this Agenda that is distributed to all, or a 
majority of all, members of the body to which this Agenda relates shall be made available at 
the Air District’s offices at 375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA 94105, at the time 
such writing is made available to all, or a majority of all, members of that body.

Accessibility and Non-Discrimination Policy

The Bay Area Air Quality Management District (Air District) does not discriminate on the basis 
of race, national origin, ethnic group identification, ancestry, religion, age, sex, sexual 
orientation, gender identity, gender expression, color, genetic information, medical condition, or 
mental or physical disability, or any other attribute or belief protected by law.  

It is the Air District’s policy to provide fair and equal access to the benefits of a program or 
activity administered by Air District. The Air District will not tolerate discrimination against any 
person(s) seeking to participate in, or receive the benefits of, any program or activity offered or 
conducted by the Air District. Members of the public who believe they or others were unlawfully 
denied full and equal access to an Air District program or activity may file a discrimination 
complaint under this policy. This non-discrimination policy also applies to other people or 
entities affiliated with Air District, including contractors or grantees that the Air District utilizes 
to provide benefits and services to members of the public. 

Auxiliary aids and services including, for example, qualified interpreters and/or listening 
devices, to individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing, and to other individuals as necessary to 
ensure effective communication or an equal opportunity to participate fully in the benefits, 
activities, programs, and services will be provided by the Air District in a timely manner and in 
such a way as to protect the privacy and independence of the individual.  Please contact the Non-
Discrimination Coordinator identified below at least three days in advance of a meeting so that 
arrangements can be made accordingly.  

If you believe discrimination has occurred with respect to an Air District program or activity, 
you may contact the Non-Discrimination Coordinator identified below or visit our website at 
www.baaqmd.gov/accessibility to learn how and where to file a complaint of discrimination.

Questions regarding this Policy should be directed to the Air District’s Non-Discrimination 
Coordinator, Suma Peesapati, at (415) 749-4967 or by email at speesapati@baaqmd.gov.



  BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
375 BEALE STREET, SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105

FOR QUESTIONS PLEASE CALL (415) 749-4941

EXECUTIVE OFFICE:
MONTHLY CALENDAR OF AIR DISTRICT MEETINGS   

JULY 2022

ADG 7/1/22 – 8:19 a.m.                                        G/Board/Executive Office/Moncal

TYPE OF MEETING DAY DATE TIME ROOM

Board of Directors Meeting Wednesday 6 9:00 a.m. 1st Floor, Board Room
(In person option available)

and REMOTE
pursuant to Assembly Bill 361

Board of Directors Community Equity, 
Health and Justice Committee

Thursday 7 9:30 a.m. Webcast only pursuant to 
Assembly Bill 361

Advisory Council Meeting Monday 11 8:30 a.m. Webcast only pursuant to 
Assembly Bill 361

Board of Directors Legislative Committee Monday 11 1:00 p.m. Webcast only pursuant to 
Assembly Bill 361

Board of Directors Stationary Source and 
Climate Impacts Committee - CANCELLED

Monday 18 9:00 a.m. Webcast only pursuant to 
Assembly Bill 361

Path to Clean Air Community Emissions 
Reduction Plan Steering Committee

Monday 18 5:30 p.m. Webcast only pursuant to 
Assembly Bill 361

Board of Directors Meeting Wednesday 20 9:00 a.m. 1st Floor, Board Room
(In person option available)

and REMOTE
pursuant to Assembly Bill 361

 
Board of Directors Administration 
Committee

Wednesday 20 11:00 a.m. 1st Floor, Board Room
(In person option available)

and REMOTE
pursuant to Assembly Bill 361

Board of Directors Budget and Finance 
Committee

Wednesday 27 9:30 a.m. Webcast only pursuant to 
Assembly Bill 361

Board of Directors Mobile Source and 
Climate Impacts Committee

Thursday 28 9:30 a.m. Webcast only pursuant to 
Assembly Bill 361



AGENDA:     5. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Approval of the Minutes of June 15, 2022

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Approve the attached draft minutes of the Board of Directors meeting of June 15, 2022. 

BACKGROUND

None. 

DISCUSSION

Attached for your review and approval are the draft minutes of the Board of Directors meeting of 
June 15, 2022. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Marcy Hiratzka
Reviewed by: Vanessa Johnson



2

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  Draft Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting of June 15, 2022



Draft Minutes - Board of Directors Regular Meeting of June 15, 2022

Bay Area Air Quality Management District
375 Beale Street, Suite 600
San Francisco, CA 94105

(415) 749-5073

DRAFT MINUTES

Board of Directors Regular Meeting
Wednesday, June 15, 2022

Note: Audio recordings of the meeting are available on the website of the 
Bay Area Air Quality Management District at

www.baaqmd.gov/bodagendas 

This meeting was conducted under procedures authorized by Assembly Bill 361 (Rivas 2021), 
allowing remote meetings. Members of the Board of Directors participated both by 

teleconference (via Zoom) and in person.

CALL TO ORDER 

1. Opening Comments: Board of Directors (Board) Chairperson, John J. Bauters, called the 
meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 

Roll Call: 

Present: Chairperson John J. Bauters; Vice Chairperson Davina Hurt; Secretary Teresa Barrett; 
and Directors Margaret Abe-Koga (Zoom), David Canepa (Zoom), Pauline Russo 
Cutter (Zoom), John Gioia (Zoom), Carole Groom (Zoom), Erin Hannigan (Zoom), 
David Haubert (Zoom), David Hudson, Tyrone Jue (Zoom), Otto Lee (Zoom), Sergio 
Lopez (Zoom), Karen Mitchoff (Zoom), Rob Rennie, Katie Rice (Zoom), Mark Ross 
(Zoom), Brad Wagenknecht (Zoom), Shamann Walton (Zoom), and Steve Young 
(Zoom).

Absent: Directors Lynda Hopkins and Nate Miley. 

2. PUBLIC MEETING PROCEDURE (OUT OF ORDER, ITEM 3)

3. SPECIAL ORDERS OF THE DAY (ITEM 4)

Chair Bauters announced that this is a new standing item on Board meeting agendas, during which, new 
and/or recently promoted Air District employees will be introduced to the Board. Jamesine Rogers 
Gibson, Senior Advanced Projects Advisor, in the Air District’s Planning Division, introduced herself.

4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE (ITEM 2)



Draft Minutes - Board of Directors Regular Meeting of June 15, 2022

2

CONSENT CALENDAR (ITEMS 5 – 13) 

5. Approval of the Budget Hearing Minutes of May 4, 2022 
6. Approval of the Minutes of June 1, 2022
7. Remote Teleconferencing per Assembly Bill (AB) 361 (Rivas)
8. Board Communications Received from June 2, 2022, through June 14, 2022
9. Personnel Out-of-State Business Travel Report for May 2022
10. Authorization to Accept Grant Funding from the California Energy Commission
11. Authorization to Amend Contract with Environmental Consultant, PlaceWorks
12. Authorization to Establish and Amend Existing Air District Job Classifications and Salary 

Ranges
13. Report of the Community Equity, Health and Justice Committee Meeting of June 2, 2022

Public Comments

No requests received.

Board Comments

None.

Board Action

Director Hudson made a motion, seconded by Vice Chair Hurt, to approve Consent Calendar Items 5 
through 13, inclusive; and the motion carried by the following vote of the Board:

AYES: Teresa Barrett, John J. Bauters, David Canepa, Pauline Russo Cutter, Carole 
Groom, Erin Hannigan, David Haubert, David Hudson, Davina Hurt, Tyrone 
Jue, Otto Lee, Sergio Lopez, Karen Mitchoff, Rob Rennie, Katie Rice, Mark 
Ross, Brad Wagenknecht, Shamann Walton, Steve Young.

NOES: None.
ABSTAIN: None.
ABSENT: Margaret Abe-Koga, John Gioia, Lynda Hopkins, Nate Miley.

PUBLIC HEARINGS

14. FINAL PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER ADOPTION OF PROPOSED 
AMENDMENTS TO AIR DISTRICT REGULATION 3: FEES

The Board of Directors held the second of two required public hearings for the exclusive purpose of 
considering testimony on the Air District's proposed amendments to Air District Regulation 3 (Fees) 
that would become effective on July 1, 2022.

Damian Breen, Senior Deputy Executive Officer of Operations, introduced Fred Tanaka, Engineering 
Manager, who gave the staff presentation Amendments to Regulation 3: Fees, including: outcome; 
outline; requested action; cost recovery background; proposed changes to fee schedules (15% increase); 
schedules not being increased; other proposed amendments (Regulations 2-1 & 2-5 and naturally 



Draft Minutes - Board of Directors Regular Meeting of June 15, 2022

3

occurring asbestos); impact of large facilities (power plants and petroleum refineries); impact on small 
businesses (renewal fees and impact); rule development schedule; feedback requested/prompt.

NOTED PRESENT: Director Gioia was noted present at 9:30 a.m.

Chair Bauters opened the public hearing.

Public Comments

Public comments were given by Kevin Buchan, Western States Petroleum Association; Jed Holtzman, 
San Francisco resident; Veronica Pardo, Resource Recovery Coalition of California; Christine Wolfe, 
California Council for Environmental and Economic Balance; and Jan Warren, Interfaith Climate 
Action Network of Contra Costa County.

Board Comments

The Board and staff discussed the Air District’s cost and fee schedule structures, compared to those of 
other California air districts; the difference in fee schedule increases, depending upon whether the fee 
is existing or new; ways in which the proposed fee changes have been revised and altered since the 
beginning of 2022; the historical timing of Regulation 3 (fee amendment) implementation; how 
proposing a new set of fee amendments (beyond this meeting) might impact the fee schedule and FYE 
2023 Budget implementation timeline; the Air District’s historical rate of cost recovery, and the rate of 
cost recovery associated with the proposed fee amendments for FYE 2023; concern about fee increases 
for small businesses in overburdened communities; whether the Air District’s current workload justifies 
the proposed fee increases; and the desire to have a report back within the next 60 days on the causes 
of backlogs in permit issuance and solutions to reducing and eliminating such delays in the future. 

Chair Bauters closed the public hearing.

Board Action

Secretary Barrett made a motion, seconded by Director Gioia, to adopt proposed amendments to Air 
District Regulation 3: Fees (effective on July 1, 2022); and the motion carried by the following vote 
of the Board:

AYES: Teresa Barrett, John J. Bauters, David Canepa, John Gioia, Carole Groom, Erin 
Hannigan, David Hudson, Davina Hurt, Tyrone Jue, Sergio Lopez, Karen 
Mitchoff, Rob Rennie, Katie Rice, Mark Ross, Brad Wagenknecht.

NOES: Pauline Russo Cutter.
ABSTAIN: David Haubert, Otto Lee.
ABSENT: Margaret Abe-Koga, Lynda Hopkins, Nate Miley, Shamann Walton, Steve 

Young.



Draft Minutes - Board of Directors Regular Meeting of June 15, 2022

4

15. FINAL PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER ADOPTION OF THE AIR DISTRICT’S 
PROPOSED BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDING (FYE) 2023

The Board of Directors held the second of two required public hearings for the exclusive purpose of 
considering testimony on the Air District's Proposed Budget for the FYE 2023 and various budget-
related actions. 

Dr. Jeff McKay, Chief Financial Officer, introduced Stephanie Osaze, Finance Director and Rex 
Sanders, Chief Administration Officer, who gave the staff presentation Conduct Second Public Hearing 
to Consider Adoption of the Air District's Proposed Budget for Fiscal Year 2022- 2023, including: 
outcome; outline; requested action; FY 2022-2023 Proposed Budget overview; breakdown of $15.2 
million budget increase; proposed 20 new staff; budget options (6.4% vs. 10.9% blended rate); capital 
budget detail; funding of retirement liabilities; Other Post-Employment Benefits funded status; reserves 
designations; FYE 2023 authorized staff; FY 2022-2023 Proposed Budget summary; and feedback 
requested/prompt.

Chair Bauters opened the public hearing.

Public Comments

Public comments were given by Jed Holtzman, San Francisco resident.

Board Comments

None.

Chair Bauters closed the public hearing.

Board Action

Director Groom made a motion, seconded by Director Wagenknecht, to approve the Proposed Budget 
for the Fiscal Year Ending 2023 and various budget-related actions; and the motion carried by the 
following vote of the Board:

AYES: Teresa Barrett, John J. Bauters, David Canepa, Pauline Russo Cutter, John Gioia, 
Carole Groom, Erin Hannigan, David Hudson, Davina Hurt, Tyrone Jue, Otto 
Lee, Sergio Lopez, Karen Mitchoff, Rob Rennie, Katie Rice, Mark Ross, Brad 
Wagenknecht, Steve Young.

NOES: None.
ABSTAIN: None.
ABSENT: Margaret Abe-Koga, David Haubert, Lynda Hopkins, Nate Miley, Shamann 

Walton.

16. WILDFIRE SEASON PREVIEW

Mr. Breen introduced Michael Flagg, Principal Air Quality Specialist, and Tracy Lee, Compliance & 
Enforcement Manager, who gave the staff presentation Wildfire Season Preview, including: outcome; 



Draft Minutes - Board of Directors Regular Meeting of June 15, 2022

5

outline; requested action; wildfires in California have intensified; 2022 fire season outlook; 2022 fire 
season started June 1; air monitoring; air quality forecasting; air quality data sites; Wildfire Air Quality 
Response Program; communications; wildfire preparedness tips; mask messaging; reducing wildfire 
risk; wildfire smoke preparedness; Assembly Bill 836; air filtration for schools; Home Air Filtration 
Program; and actions requested. 

Public Comments

No requests received.

Board Comments

The Board and staff discussed the cause of changing air quality during the wildfire season (why 
conditions may improve and then become worse.) 

Board Action

None; receive and file

OTHER BUSINESS

17. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA MATTERS 

Public comments were given by Jan Warren, Interfaith Climate Action Network of Contra Costa 
County.

18. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 

Director Hudson reported that he attended the California Hydrogen Leadership Summit in early June 
and said that he believes that there will be an increase in hydrogen-related legislation in the future. He 
suggested that the Air District begins monitoring hydrogen bills, moving forward.

19. REPORT OF THE INTERIM EXECUTIVE OFFICER/AIR POLLUTION CONTROL 
OFFICER (APCO)

Sharon Landers, Interim Executive Officer/APCO, asked Dr. Ranyee Chiang, Director of Meteorology 
and Measurement, to provide a summary on recent air quality.  

20. CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT 

Chair Bauters recognized and explained the history of the federal holiday, Juneteenth, which will take 
place on Sunday, June 19, 2022. 

21. TIME AND PLACE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

Wednesday, July 6, 2022, at 9:00 a.m., in person or via webcast, teleconference, or Zoom, pursuant to 
procedures in accordance with Assembly Bill 361 (Rivas 2021).



Draft Minutes - Board of Directors Regular Meeting of June 15, 2022

6

CLOSED SESSION (11:16 a.m.)

22. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957(b)

Title: Executive Officer/Air Pollution Control Officer 

Reportable Action: Alexander Crockett, District Counsel, had nothing to report. 

23. EXISTING LITIGATION (GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54956.9(a)) 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(a), the Board will meet in closed session with legal 
counsel to discuss the following cases:

South Coast Air Quality Management District v. Chao, D.C. District Court, Case No. 19-CV-3436 
(consolidated under lead Case No. 19-CV-2826);

Reportable Action: Mr. Crockett reported that the Board authorized the voluntary dismissal of this 
case.

South Coast Air Quality Management District v. EPA, D.C. Circuit, Case No. 19-1241 (consolidated 
under lead Case No. 19-1230); and

Reportable Action: Mr. Crockett had nothing to report. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District v. NHTSA, D.C. Circuit, Case No. 20-1173 
(consolidated under lead Case No. 20-1145)

Reportable Action: Mr. Crockett had nothing to report. 

OPEN SESSION (12:32 p.m.)

24. ADJOURNMENT

The meeting adjourned at 12:33 p.m.

Marcy Hiratzka
Clerk of the Boards



AGENDA:     6. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Board Communications Received from June 15, 2022 through July 5, 2022.

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None; receive and file. 

BACKGROUND

None. 

DISCUSSION

Copies of communications directed to the Board of Directors received by the Air District from 
June 15, 2022 through July 5, 2022, if any, will be distributed to the Board Members by way of 
email. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Aloha de Guzman 
Reviewed by: Vanessa Johnson



2

ATTACHMENTS:

None



AGENDA:     7. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Remote Teleconferencing per Assembly Bill (AB) 361 (Rivas)

RECOMMENDED ACTION

The Board of Directors will consider approving a resolution reauthorizing Air District Board and 
Committee meetings using remote teleconferencing through August 5, 2022. 

BACKGROUND

AB 361 (R. Rivas 2021) (Open meetings: state and local agencies: teleconferences) allows the 
Board of Directors, Board committees, and other legislative bodies of the District to conduct 
public meetings using teleconferencing without complying with certain requirements imposed by 
the Ralph M. Brown Act during the COVID-19 state of emergency proclaimed by Governor 
Newsom. The Board has adopted a series of resolutions since October 6, 2021, authorizing such 
meetings under AB 361. AB 361 requires the Board to adopt further resolutions every 30 days in 
order to continue conducting such meetings. 

DISCUSSION

When the COVID-19 pandemic started, local agency boards struggled to conduct their meetings 
in compliance with the Brown Act’s public accessibility requirements while still abiding by stay-
at-home orders. As a result, Governor Newsom signed several executive orders to grant local 
agencies the flexibility to meet remotely during the COVID-19 pandemic. The Governor’s 
executive orders allowed public agencies to meet remotely and did not require physical public 
access to those meeting locations. Those executive orders expired on September 30, 2021. AB 
361 provides additional flexibility for local agencies looking to meet remotely during a 
proclaimed state of emergency. Agencies are required to consider and vote on this flexibility 
every 30 days in order to continue this practice under AB 361.



2

In order to continue conducting remote meetings without complying with all of the Brown Act’s 
public accessibility requirements while the state of emergency remains active, or while state or 
local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing, the Board 
must make the following findings by majority vote:

(A) That the Board has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency; and

(B) That any of the following circumstances exist: (i) The state of emergency continues to 
directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person; or (ii) State or local 
officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing.

The circumstances set forth in (B) are present here, and upon reconsideration of the 
circumstances of the state of emergency, the Board has grounds to make the requisite AB 361 
findings. First, although the COVID-19 public health emergency has abated sufficiently to allow 
many members to participate safely in in-person meetings, it continues to present imminent risks 
to the health or safety of other members, including but not limited to those who may have 
weakened immune systems, those who may have reasons preventing them from being 
vaccinated, and those who may live in a household in close proximity with such persons. As 
such, the health emergency continues to directly impact the ability of members to meet safely in 
person. Second, state and local officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote 
social distancing.  

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Alan Abbs
Reviewed by: Alexander G. Crockett

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  Draft AB 361 Subsequent Resolution 



BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-XX

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE BAY AREA AIR 
QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT AUTHORIZING CONTINUED REMOTE 

TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS FOR THE PERIOD JULY 6 TO AUGUST 5, 2022

WHEREAS, the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (District) is committed to preserving 
and nurturing public access and participation in meetings of the Board of Directors, Board 
Committees, and all other legislative bodies of the District; and 

WHEREAS, all meetings of District legislative bodies are open and public, as required by the 
Ralph M. Brown Act (Brown Act), Cal. Gov. Code §§ 54950- 54963, so that any member of the 
public may attend, participate, and watch the District’s legislative bodies conduct their business; 
and

WHEREAS, beginning in 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic gave rise to significant health risks that 
made it unduly risky for the District’s legislative bodies to hold in-person public meetings; and

WHEREAS, the Brown Act authorizes remote teleconferencing participation in meetings by 
members of a legislative body, but as of the beginning of the pandemic, it included certain 
restrictions in Government Code section 54953(b)(3) that made fully remote meetings impractical; 
and

WHEREAS, in response to this situation, and in order to facilitate remote meetings to promote 
public health and allow for social distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic, the Legislature 
enacted AB 361 (Rivas), which (among other things) created Government Code section 54953(e); 
and  

WHEREAS, Government Code section 54953(e) makes provision for remote teleconferencing 
participation in meetings by members of a legislative body without compliance with the 
requirements of Government Code section 54953(b)(3), subject to the existence of certain 
conditions; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors adopted Resolutions on October 6, 2021 and thereafter, 
finding that the requisite conditions exist for the legislative bodies of the District to conduct remote 
teleconference meetings without compliance with Government Code section 54953(b)(3), 
including (i) that there was and is a proclaimed state of emergency and state or local officials have 
imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing, and (ii) that as a result of the 
state of emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of 
attendees; and

WHEREAS, as a condition of continuing the use of the provisions found in section 54953(e), the 
Board of Directors must reconsider the circumstances of the state of emergency that exists in the 
District, and the Board of Directors has done so; and



WHEREAS, the COVID-19 state of emergency remains active and Governor Newsom’s COVID-
19 Emergency Proclamation of March 4, 2020 remains in effect to prevent, mitigate, and respond 
to the spread of COVID-19; and

WHEREAS, measures to promote social distancing have been ordered or recommended by state 
and local public health authorities; and  

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors does hereby find that although the COVID-19 public health 
emergency has abated sufficiently to allow many members to participate safely in in-person 
meetings, it continues to present imminent risks to the health or safety of other members, including 
but not limited to those who may have weakened immune systems, those who may have reasons 
preventing them from being vaccinated, and those who may live in a household with such persons, 
and as such, the health emergency continues to directly impact the ability of members to meet 
safely in person;

WHEREAS, state and local officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social 
distancing;

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors desires to affirm that a state of emergency exists and re-ratify 
the Governor’s proclamation of state of emergency; and

WHEREAS, as a consequence of the local emergency persisting, the Board of Directors does 
hereby find that the legislative bodies of the District shall continue to conduct their meetings 
without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Government Code section 54953, as 
authorized by subdivision (e) of section 54953, and that such legislative bodies shall continue to 
comply with the requirements to provide the public with access to the meetings as prescribed in 
paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of section 54953; and  

WHEREAS, the District is publicizing in its meeting agendas zoom and webcast links and phone 
numbers for members of the public to participate remotely in meetings of the District’s legislative 
bodies. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE BAY AREA AIR QUALITY 
MANAGEMENT DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Recitals. The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are incorporated into this 
Resolution by this reference.

Section 2. Affirmation that Local Emergency Persists. The Board of Directors hereby finds that 
the state of emergency related to COVID-19 in the District remains active, that measures to 
promote social distancing have been ordered or recommended by public health authorities, and 
that the state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of members to meet safely in 
person by presenting imminent risks to the health or safety of some attendees.

Section 3. Re-ratification of Governor’s Proclamation of a State of Emergency. The Board hereby 
ratifies the Governor of the State of California’s Proclamation of 



State of Emergency, effective as of its issuance date of March 4, 2020.Section 4. Remote 
Teleconference Meetings. The staff and legislative bodies of the District are hereby authorized and 
directed to take all actions necessary to carry out the intent and purpose of this Resolution, 
including continuing to conduct open and public meetings in accordance with Government Code 
section 54953(e) and other applicable provisions of the Brown Act.

Section 5. Effective Date of Resolution. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 
adoption and shall be effective until the earlier of (i) August 5, 2022, or (ii) such time the Board 
of Directors adopts a subsequent resolution in accordance with Government Code section 
54953(e)(3) to extend the time during which the legislative bodies of the District may continue to 
teleconference without compliance with section 54953(b)(3).

The foregoing resolution was duly regularly introduced, passed, and adopted at a regular meeting 
of the Board of Directors of the Bay Area Air Quality Management District on the motion of 
______________________, seconded by ______________________, on the 6th day of JULY 
2022, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN:

                                                                                                _________________________
John Bauters

                        Chair of the Board of Directors
ATTEST:
                                                                                                _________________________

Teresa Barrett
Secretary of the Board of Directors



AGENDA:     8. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Authorization to Execute a Master Service Agreement (MSA) with InterEthnica

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Authorize the Interim Executive Officer/ APCO to execute a Master Service Agreement (MSA) 
with InterEthnica for a total amount, not-to-exceed $265,000, from August 1, 2022 to June 30, 
2024 to support the Community Advisory Council, the James Cary Smith Community Grant 
Program and the District’s community engagement work. 

BACKGROUND

InterEthnica has served as a facilitation consultant to the District since 2020, supporting District 
workshops, the Community Advisory Council, and the James Cary Smith Community Grant 
Program.  InterEthnica provides highly specialized services, such as engagement strategies for 
polluted-burdened communities, multilingual communications, meeting and workshop design 
(virtual and in-person), and supporting the District in meeting our accessibility standards, and 
culturally appropriate engagement strategies (outreaching in a culturally sensitive manner to 
linguistically and ethnically diverse communities). InterEthnica is a minority and women-owned 
business.

InterEthnica currently has a Master Service Agreement (MSA) (Contract No. 2020.024) with the 
Air District where they provide the following services:  interpretation services during virtual 
meetings, project planning assistance and support, strategic advice and webinar assistance as 
well as design equitable funding methodology on the James Cary Smith Community Grant 
Program, technical assistance and support for the Community Advisory Council (CAC) virtual 
meetings, translation of meeting materials, and host logistical support/technical assistance in 
virtual public meetings and workshops.  They have been instrumental in navigating the virtual 
engagement environment and bridging the gap between the District and environmental justice 
communities in the Bay Area.
 
In 2021, the District released a Request for Quotation (RFQ) 2021-014, which sought to create a 
facilitator bench that would provide staff with the ability to select specialized and qualified 
consultants to support the District in engaging overburdened communities throughout the Bay 



2

Area. InterEthnica applied and was selected amongst eleven (11) applicants (out of 23 firms) to 
provide facilitation services to the District, as well as conduct multi-stakeholder group 
coordination, stakeholder outreach and event promotion, logistics for public meetings and 
workshops, and neutral meeting facilitation (see attached RFQ recommendation memo).  These 
services became particularly important during the COVID-19 pandemic, which forced the 
District to pivot and not only learn to hold meetings in a virtual setting, but more broadly, learn 
new ways to engage community members in key Air District programs, planning, and decision-
making. 

DISCUSSION

The new MSA will replace the current MSA and will carryover any remaining and ongoing 
technical and logistical support work to ensure the continuing success of the Community 
Advisory Council and James Cary Smith Community Grant Program. InterEthnica’s expertise 
has proven to be an asset to the District, especially in engaging overburdened communities, in 
consistently and reliably supporting the District’s community-led projects, and in continuing to 
build trust with communities.

Pending approval, the new MSA will include the following:

Community Advisory Council (approximately $96,000):
o Technical assistance and support for virtual meetings, including post-meeting 

support and live captioning and accessibility services
o Translation and interpretation services
o Drafting meeting minutes

James Cary Smith Community Grant Program (approximately $73, 000):
o Strategic advice
o Funding methodology design
o Web-based and meeting logistics support

The remainder of the MSA will be available for future workshops, meetings and other 
engagement for Rules Division and other Divisions (approximately $97,000): 

o Facilitation advice
o Development of materials
o Translation and simultaneous interpretation services 
o Project planning assistance and support

 
The new MSA (See Attachment) will replace the current MSA and will be implemented from 
August 1, 2022 to June 30, 2024 with a Not-To-Exceed (NTE) amount of $265,000.  

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

Funding for the new MSA contract $265,000 comes from the following: $72,510 for ongoing 
James Cary Smith Community Grant support approved in the 2022 Fiscal Year Ending (FYE) 
Community Engagement Office budget using Assembly Bill (AB) 617 20 CAPP Implementation 
Funds; $137,490 for Community Advisory Council and general workshop support will come 



3

from 2023 FYE Community Engagement Office General Fund budget; $25,000 for AB 617 
workshop support will be funded using 2023 FYE Community Engagement Office Assembly 
Bill (AB) 617 20 CAPP Implementation Funds; and $30,000 for Rules Division workshops will 
come from 2023 FYE Rules Division General Fund budget. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Lisa Flores
Reviewed by: Veronica Eady

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  Draft InterEthnica MSA
2.  Original Approved MSA Contract No. 2020.024
3.  RFQ 2021-014



Page 1 of 10

Contract No. 2022.147

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

MASTER SERVICES CONTRACT

CONTRACT NO. 2022.147

1. PARTIES – The parties to this Contract (“Contract”) are the Bay Area Air Quality Management District 
(“DISTRICT”) whose address is 375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA  94105, and 
InterEthnica, Inc. (“CONTRACTOR”) whose address is 60 Rausch Street, Suite 307, San Francisco, CA 
94103.

2. RECITALS
A. DISTRICT is the local agency with primary responsibility for regulating stationary source air 

pollution in the Bay Area Air Quality Management District in the State of California.  DISTRICT is 
authorized to enter into this Contract under California Health and Safety Code Section 40701.  
DISTRICT desires to contract with CONTRACTOR for Services as defined herein.  DISTRICT is 
entering into this Contract based on CONTRACTOR’s stated qualifications to perform the 
Services.

B. All parties to this Contract have had the opportunity to have this contract reviewed by their 
attorney.

3. DEFINITIONS
A. “Purchase Order” shall mean the written or electronic document used by DISTRICT to track 

payments to CONTRACTOR under this Contract.
B. “Services” shall mean the services to be provided by CONTRACTOR hereunder as generally 

described in the General Description of Services, attached hereto as Attachment A and made a 
part hereof by this reference, and as specifically described in Task Orders issued pursuant to this 
Contract.

C. “Task Order” shall mean a written request by DISTRICT for specific services to be performed by 
CONTRACTOR.

4. PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS
A. CONTRACTOR is authorized to do business in the State of California.  CONTRACTOR attests that 

it is in good tax standing with federal and state tax authorities.
B. CONTRACTOR agrees to obtain any and all required licenses, permits, and all other appropriate 

legal authorizations from all applicable federal, state and local jurisdictions and pay all 
applicable fees.

C. CONTRACTOR shall comply with all laws and regulations that apply to its performance under this 
Contract, including any requirements to disclose potential conflicts of interest under DISTRICT’s 
Conflict of Interest Code.

D. CONTRACTOR shall not engage in any performance of work during the term of this contract that 
is in direct or indirect conflict with duties and responsibilities set forth in the Scope of Work.

E. CONTRACTOR shall exercise the degree of skill and care customarily required by accepted 
professional practices and procedures.

F. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that any subcontractors, employees and agents performing under 
this Contract comply with the performance standards set forth in paragraph D above.



Page 2 of 10

Contract No. 2022.147

5. TERM – The term of this Contract is from August 1, 2022 to June 30, 2024, unless further extended 
by amendment of this Contract in writing, or terminated earlier.  CONTRACTOR shall not submit any 
invoice for services performed under this Contract until the Contract is fully executed. 

6. TERMINATION
A. The DISTRICT may terminate this Contract at any time, at will, and without specifying any 

reason, by notifying CONTRACTOR in writing.  The notice of termination shall specify the 
effective date of termination, which shall be no less than thirty (30) calendar days from the date 
of delivery of the notice of termination, and shall be delivered in accordance with the provisions 
of section 13 below.  Immediately upon receipt of the notice of termination, CONTRACTOR shall 
cease all services under this Contract, except such services as are specified in the notice of 
termination.  CONTRACTOR shall deliver a final invoice for all remaining services performed but 
not billed, including any services specified in the termination notice, on or before ten (10) 
business days following the termination date.

B. Either party may terminate this Contract for breach by the other party.
i) Failure to perform any agreement or obligation contained in this Contract or failure to 

complete the services in a satisfactory manner shall constitute a breach of the Contract.
ii) The non-breaching party may terminate the Contract by delivery of a written notice of 

breach.  The notice of breach shall specify the date of termination, which shall be no earlier 
than ten (10) business days from delivery of the notice of breach.  In the alternative, at its 
sole discretion, the non-breaching party may require the breaching party to cure the breach.  
The notice of breach shall specify the nature of the breach and the date by which such 
breach must be cured.

iii) If CONTRACTOR fails to perform any obligation under this Contract, DISTRICT at its sole 
discretion, may perform, or cause the performance, of the obligation itself.  In that event, 
DISTRICT shall deduct the costs to perform such obligation and any other costs to cure the 
breach from the payment otherwise due to CONTRACTOR for work performed under this 
Contract.  DISTRICT’s performance hereunder shall not be deemed a waiver or release of 
any obligation of, or default by, CONTRACTOR under this Contract. 

iv) The notice of breach shall be provided in accordance with the notice requirements set forth 
in section 13.

v) The non-breaching party reserves all rights under law and equity to enforce this Contract 
and recover any damages.

7. INSURANCE
A. CONTRACTOR shall maintain the following insurance:

i) Workers’ compensation and employers’ liability insurance as required by California law or 
other applicable statutory requirements.

ii) Occurrence-based commercial general liability insurance or equivalent form with a limit of 
not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) each occurrence.  Such insurance shall include 
DISTRICT and its officers, agents, and employees as additional insureds and shall be primary 
with respect to any insurance maintained by DISTRICT.

iii) Business automobile liability insurance or equivalent form with a limit of not less than one 
million dollars ($1,000,000) each accident.  Such insurance shall include coverage for owned, 
hired, and non-owned vehicles.  If CONTRACTOR is a sole proprietor, CONTRACTOR may 
meet this insurance requirement with personal automobile liability insurance carrying a 



Page 3 of 10

Contract No. 2022.147

business use endorsement or by demonstrating to the satisfaction of DISTRICT that business 
use is covered under the CONTRACTOR’s personal automobile liability insurance.  A 
CONTRACTOR using only rental vehicles in performing work under this Contract may meet 
this insurance requirement by purchasing automobile liability insurance in the required 
coverage amount from the rental agency.

iv) Professional liability insurance with limits not less than  one million dollars ($1,000,000) 
each claim.

B. All insurance shall be placed with insurers acceptable to DISTRICT.
C. Prior to commencement of work under this Contract, CONTRACTOR shall furnish properly-

executed certificates of insurance for all required insurance.  Upon request by DISTRICT, 
CONTRACTOR shall provide a complete copy of any required insurance policy.  CONTRACTOR 
shall notify DISTRICT in writing thirty (30) days prior to cancellation or modification of any 
required insurance policy.  Any such modifications are subject to pre-approval by DISTRICT.

D. If CONTRACTOR fails to maintain the required insurance coverage set forth above, DISTRICT 
reserves the right either to purchase such additional insurance and to deduct the cost thereof 
from any payments owed to CONTRACTOR or to terminate this Contract for breach.

8. INDEMNIFICATION
A. CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold DISTRICT, its officers, employees and agents harmless 

from and against any and all liability, loss, expense, including reasonable attorneys' fees, or 
claims for injury or damages arising out of the performance of this Contract but only in 
proportion to and to the extent such liability, loss, expense, attorneys' fees, or claims for injury 
or damages are caused by or result from the negligent or intentional acts or omissions of 
CONTRACTOR, its officers, agents, or employees.

B. DISTRICT shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR, its officers, employees and agents harmless 
from and against any and all liability, loss, expense, including reasonable attorneys' fee, or 
claims for injury or damages arising out of the performance of this Contract but only in 
proportion to and to the extent such liability, loss, expense, attorneys' fees, or claims for injury 
or damages are caused by or result from the negligent or intentional acts or omissions of 
DISTRICT, its officers, agents, or employees.

9. AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE SERVICES
A. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to provide to DISTRICT, as DISTRICT may from time to time 

designate, such services as DISTRICT may order by Task Order, all in accordance with and subject 
to the terms, covenants and conditions of this Contract.  DISTRICT agrees to pay for these 
services ordered by DISTRICT in accordance with and subject to the terms, covenants and 
conditions of this Contract. 

B. All Task Orders issued by DISTRICT to CONTRACTOR for services during the term of this Contract 
are subject to the provisions of this Contract as though fully set forth in such Task Order.  In the 
event that the provisions of this Contract conflict with any Task Order issued by DISTRICT to 
CONTRACTOR, the provisions of this Contract shall govern.  No other terms and conditions, 
including, but not limited to, those contained in CONTRACTOR's standard printed terms and 
conditions, on CONTRACTOR's order acknowledgment, invoices or otherwise, shall have any 
application to or effect upon or be deemed to constitute an amendment to or to be 
incorporated into this Contract, any Task Order, or any transactions occurring pursuant hereto 
or thereto, unless this Contract shall be specifically amended to adopt such other terms and 
conditions in writing by the parties.



Page 4 of 10

Contract No. 2022.147

C. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract to the contrary, DISTRICT shall have no 
obligation to order or purchase any services hereunder and the placement of any Task Order 
shall be in the sole discretion of DISTRICT.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the 
actual quantity of services to be purchased hereunder shall be determined by DISTRICT in its 
sole discretion and shall not exceed $265,000.  This Contract is not exclusive.  CONTRACTOR 
expressly acknowledges and agrees that DISTRICT may purchase at its sole discretion, services 
that are identical or similar to the services described in this Contract from any third party.

10. TASK ORDERS – Each Task Order will specify the following items, as relevant: specific services 
requested, schedule for services, location where services are to be performed (with contact person), 
and cost or estimated cost of services.  Each Task Order issued under this Contract shall be made 
part of, and be incorporated into this Contract, and shall reference this Contract on the face of each 
Task Order.  Should any Task Order not conform to or satisfy the terms of this Contract, 
CONTRACTOR shall have five (5) business days after receipt to reject the Task Order.  By not 
rejecting the Task Order within five (5) business days, CONTRACTOR will have accepted the Task 
Order.  Acceptance by CONTRACTOR is limited to the provisions of this Contract and the Task Order.  
No additional or different provisions proposed by CONTRACTOR or DISTRICT shall apply.  In addition, 
the parties agree that this Contract and accepted Task Orders constitute a contract for services and 
satisfy all statutory and legal formalities of a contract.

11. PRICING, INVOICES, AND PAYMENT
A. DISTRICT shall pay CONTRACTOR for all services ordered and provided in compliance with the 

terms and conditions of this Contract and with Task Orders issued under this Contract.
B. CONTRACTOR shall submit original invoices to DISTRICT in form and substance and format 

reasonably acceptable to DISTRICT.  Each invoice, including supporting documentation, must be 
prepared in duplicate on CONTRACTOR’s letterhead; must list DISTRICT’s contract number, 
Purchase Order Number, and the CONTRACTOR’s Social Security Number or Federal Employer 
Identification Number; and must be submitted to:  Bay Area Air Quality Management District, 
375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA 94105, Attn: Contracts Manager.

C. Except as specifically set forth in Attachment A or in Task Orders under this Contract, DISTRICT 
shall not be responsible for any additional costs or expenses of any nature incurred by 
CONTRACTOR in connection with the provision of the services, including without limitation 
travel expenses, clerical or administrative personnel, long distance telephone charges, etc.

D. CONTRACTOR represents, warrants and covenants that the prices, charges and fees for services 
set forth in this Contract (on the whole) are at least as favorable as the prices, charges and fees 
CONTRACTOR charges (on the whole) to other of its customers or clients for the same or 
substantially similar services provided under the same or substantially similar circumstances, 
terms, and conditions.  If CONTRACTOR agrees or contracts with other clients or customers 
similarly situated during the Term of this Contract, and offers or agrees to financial terms more 
favorable than those set forth herein (on the whole), CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that it will 
reduce the prices, charges and/or fees charged to DISTRICT in respect of the services hereunder 
to the most favorable rates received by those other clients or customers.

12. DISPUTE RESOLUTION – A party that disputes a notice of breach must first seek mediation to resolve 
the dispute in accordance with the provisions set forth below.



Page 5 of 10

Contract No. 2022.147

A. Upon receipt of a notice of breach of contract, the party may submit a demand for mediation to 
resolve whether or not a breach occurred.  The party must state the basis of the dispute and 
deliver the demand within ten (10) business days of the date of receipt of the notice of breach.

B. The mediation shall take place at DISTRICT’s office at 375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, 
or at such other place as may be mutually agreed upon by the parties and the mediator.

C. The parties shall make good faith efforts to hold the mediation within thirty (30) days after 
receipt of the demand for mediation.

D. Each party shall bear its own mediation costs.
E. In the event the parties are unable to resolve the dispute, either party may file an action in a 

court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the Contract.
F. Maximum recovery under this section shall be limited to the total value of all Task Orders issued 

under this Contract.  The mediation costs shall not reduce the maximum amount recoverable 
under this section.

13. NOTICES – All notices that are required under this Contract shall be provided in the manner set forth 
herein, unless specified otherwise.  Notice to a party shall be delivered to the attention of the 
person listed below, or to such other person or persons as may hereafter be designated by that 
party in writing.  Notice shall be in writing sent by e-mail, facsimile, or regular first class mail.  In the 
case of e-mail and facsimile communications, valid notice shall be deemed to have been delivered 
upon sending, provided the sender obtained an electronic confirmation of delivery.  E-mail and 
facsimile communications shall be deemed to have been received on the date of such transmission, 
provided such date was a business day and delivered prior to 4:00 p.m. PST.  Otherwise, receipt of e-
mail and facsimile communications shall be deemed to have occurred on the following business day.  
In the case of regular mail notice, notice shall be deemed to have been delivered on the mailing date 
and received five (5) business days after the date of mailing.

DISTRICT: Bay Area Air Quality Management District
375 Beale Street, Suite 600
San Francisco, CA  94105
Attn: Anna Lee

CONTRACTOR: InterEthnica, Inc.
60 Rausch Street, Suite 307
San Francisco, CA 94103
Attn: Lisa Abboud

14. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS – All attachment(s) to this Contract are expressly incorporated herein by 
this reference and made a part hereof as though fully set forth.

15. EMPLOYEES OF CONTRACTOR
A. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the cost of regular pay to its employees, as well as cost of 

vacation, vacation replacements, sick leave, severance pay, and pay for legal holidays.
B. CONTRACTOR, its officers, employees, agents, or representatives shall not be considered 

employees or agents of DISTRICT, nor shall CONTRACTOR, its officers, employees, agents, or 
representatives be entitled to or eligible to participate in any benefits, privileges, or plans, given 
or extended by DISTRICT to its employees.



Page 6 of 10

Contract No. 2022.147

C. CONTRACTOR shall assign the employees listed under the Task Orders to perform services under 
this Contract.  CONTRACTOR shall not assign different employees to perform these services 
without the express written permission of DISTRICT, which DISTRICT will not unreasonably 
withhold.

D. DISTRICT reserves the right to review the credentials to perform the services for any of 
CONTRACTOR’s employees assigned herein and to disapprove CONTRACTOR’s assignments.  
CONTRACTOR warrants that it will not employ any subcontractor(s) without prior written 
approval from DISTRICT.

16. CONFIDENTIALITY – In order to carry out the purposes of this Contract, CONTRACTOR may require 
access to certain of DISTRICT’s confidential information (including trade secrets, inventions, 
confidential know-how, confidential business information, and other information that DISTRICT 
considers confidential) (collectively, “Confidential Information”).  It is expressly understood and 
agreed that DISTRICT may designate in a conspicuous manner Confidential Information that 
CONTRACTOR obtains from DISTRICT, and CONTRACTOR agrees to:
A. Observe complete confidentiality with respect to such information, including without limitation, 

agreeing not to disclose or otherwise permit access to such information by any other person or 
entity in any manner whatsoever, except that such disclosure or access shall be permitted to 
employees of CONTRACTOR requiring access in fulfillment of the services provided under this 
Contract.

B. Ensure that CONTRACTOR’s officers, employees, agents, representatives, and independent 
contractors are informed of the confidential nature of such information and to assure by 
agreement or otherwise that they are prohibited from copying or revealing, for any purpose 
whatsoever, the contents of such information or any part thereof, or from taking any action 
otherwise prohibited under this section.

C. Not use such information or any part thereof in the performance of services to others or for the 
benefit of others in any form whatsoever whether gratuitously or for valuable consideration, 
except as permitted under this Contract.

D. Notify DISTRICT promptly and in writing of the circumstances surrounding any possession, use, 
or knowledge of such information or any part thereof by any person or entity other than those 
authorized by this section.  Take at CONTRACTOR’s expense, but at DISTRICT’s option and in any 
event under DISTRICT’s control, any legal action necessary to prevent unauthorized use of such 
information by any third party or entity which has gained access to such information at least in 
part due to the fault of CONTRACTOR.

E. Take any and all other actions necessary or desirable to assure such continued confidentiality 
and protection of such information during the term of this Contract and following expiration or 
termination of the Contract.

F. Prevent access to such materials by a person or entity not authorized under this Contract.
G. Establish specific procedures in order to fulfill the obligations of this section.

17. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS – Title and full ownership rights to all intellectual property 
developed under this Contract shall at all times remain with DISTRICT, unless otherwise agreed to in 
writing.  

18. PUBLICATION
A. DISTRICT shall approve in writing any report or other document prepared by CONTRACTOR in 

connection with performance under this Contract prior to dissemination or publication of such 



Page 7 of 10

Contract No. 2022.147

report or document to a third party.  DISTRICT may waive in writing its requirement for prior 
approval.

B. Until approved by DISTRICT, any report or other document prepared by CONTRACTOR shall 
include on each page a conspicuous header, footer, or watermark stating “DRAFT – Not 
Reviewed or Approved by BAAQMD,” unless DISTRICT has waived its requirement for prior 
approval pursuant to paragraph A of this section.

C. Information, data, documents, or reports developed by CONTRACTOR for DISTRICT, pursuant to 
this Contract, shall be part of DISTRICT’s public record, unless otherwise indicated.  
CONTRACTOR may use or publish, at its own expense, such information, provided DISTRICT 
approves use of such information in advance.  The following acknowledgment of support and 
disclaimer must appear in each publication of materials, whether copyrighted or not, based 
upon or developed under this Contract.

“This report was prepared as a result of work sponsored, paid for, in whole or in part, by the 
Bay Area Air Quality Management District (District).  The opinions, findings, conclusions, and 
recommendations are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the views of the 
District.  The District, its officers, employees, contractors, and subcontractors make no 
warranty, expressed or implied, and assume no legal liability for the information in this 
report.”

D. CONTRACTOR shall inform its officers, employees, and subcontractors involved in the 
performance of this Contract of the restrictions contained herein and shall require compliance 
with the above.

19. NON-DISCRIMINATION – In the performance of this Contract, CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate in 
its recruitment, hiring, promotion, demotion, and termination practices on the basis of race, 
religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, marital status, sexual orientation, medical 
condition, or physical or mental disability and shall comply with the provisions of the California Fair 
Employment & Housing Act (Government Code Section 12900 et seq.), the Federal Civil Rights Act of 
1964 (P.L. 88-352) and all amendments thereto, and all administrative rules and regulations issued 
pursuant to said Acts.  CONTRACTOR shall also require each subcontractor performing services in 
connection with this Contract to comply with this section and shall include in each contract with 
such subcontractor provisions to accomplish the requirements of this section.

20. PROPERTY AND SECURITY – Without limiting CONTRACTOR’S obligations with regard to security, 
CONTRACTOR shall comply with all the rules and regulations established by DISTRICT for access to 
and activity in and around DISTRICT’s premises.

21. ASSIGNMENT – No party shall assign, sell, license, or otherwise transfer any rights or obligations 
under this Contract to a third party without the prior written consent of the other party, and any 
attempt to do so shall be void upon inception.

22. WAIVER – No waiver of a breach, of failure of any condition, or of any right or remedy contained in 
or granted by the provisions of this Contract shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by 
the party waiving the breach, failure, right, or remedy.  No waiver of any breach, failure, right, or 
remedy shall be deemed a waiver of any other breach, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver 
constitute a continuing waiver unless the writing so specifies.  Further, the failure of a party to 



Page 8 of 10

Contract No. 2022.147

enforce performance by the other party of any term, covenant, or condition of this Contract, and 
the failure of a party to exercise any rights or remedies hereunder, shall not be deemed a waiver or 
relinquishment by that party to enforce future performance of any such terms, covenants, or 
conditions, or to exercise any future rights or remedies.

23. ATTORNEYS’ FEES – In the event any action is filed in connection with the enforcement or 
interpretation of this Contract, each party shall bear its own attorneys’ fees and costs.

24. FORCE MAJEURE – Neither DISTRICT nor CONTRACTOR shall be liable for or deemed to be in default 
for any delay or failure in performance under this Contract or interruption of services resulting, 
directly or indirectly, from acts of God, enemy or hostile governmental action, civil commotion, 
strikes, lockouts, labor disputes, fire or other casualty, judicial orders, governmental controls, 
regulations or restrictions, inability to obtain labor or materials or reasonable substitutes for labor 
or materials necessary for performance of the services, or other causes, except financial, that are 
beyond the reasonable control of DISTRICT or CONTRACTOR, for a period of time equal to the period 
of such force majeure event, provided that the party failing to perform notifies the other party 
within fifteen calendar days of discovery of the force majeure event, and provided further that that 
party takes all reasonable action to mitigate the damages resulting from the failure to perform.  
Notwithstanding the above, if the cause of the force majeure event is due to party’s own action or 
inaction, then such cause shall not excuse that party from performance under this Contract.  

25. SEVERABILITY – If a court of competent jurisdiction holds any provision of this Contract to be illegal, 
unenforceable or invalid in whole or in part for any reason, the validity and enforceability of the 
remaining provisions, or portions of them will not be affected.

26. HEADINGS – Headings on the sections and paragraphs of this Contract are for convenience and 
reference only, and the words contained therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify, 
or aid in the interpretation, construction, or meaning of the provisions of this Contract.

27. COUNTERPARTS/FACSIMILES/SCANS – This Contract may be executed and delivered in any number 
of counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original, and all of 
which together shall constitute the same contract.  The parties may rely upon a facsimile copy or 
scanned copy of any party’s signature as an original for all purposes.

28. GOVERNING LAW – Any dispute that arises under or relates to this Contract shall be governed by 
California law, excluding any laws that direct the application of another jurisdiction’s laws.  Venue 
for resolution of any dispute that arises under or relates to this Contract, including mediation, shall 
be San Francisco, California.

29. ENTIRE CONTRACT AND MODIFICATION – This Contract represents the final, complete, and exclusive 
statement of the agreement between the parties related to CONTRACTOR providing services to 
DISTRICT and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings and agreements of the 
parties.  No party has been induced to enter into this Contract by, nor is any party relying upon, any 
representation or warranty outside those expressly set forth herein.  This Contract may only be 
amended by mutual agreement of the parties in writing and signed by both parties.



Page 9 of 10

Contract No. 2022.147

30. SURVIVAL OF TERMS – The provisions of sections 8 (Indemnification), 16 (Confidentiality), 17 
(Intellectual Property Rights), and 18 (Publication) shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to this Contract have caused this Contract to be duly executed on 
their behalf by their authorized representatives.

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY INTERETHNICA, INC.
MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

By: ________________________________ By: ________________________________
Sharon Landers Lisa Abboud
Interim Executive Officer/APCO Principal

Date: ________________________________ Date: ________________________________

Approved as to form:
District Counsel

By: ________________________________
Alexander Crockett
District Counsel



Page 10 of 10

Contract No. 2022.147

Attachment A
General Description of Services

CONTRACTOR shall provide community engagement support and facilitation services to DISTRICT. 
DISTRICT regularly convenes meetings with community groups and public forums to inform the 
community about DISTRICT activities and to provide the public the opportunity to engage with DISTRICT 
staff, provide comments, ask questions, and shape new policy, planning processes and decision-making. 
Community engagement activities at the DISTRICT range in level of engagement from focus groups and 
meetings with small groups of community members to larger public meetings, open houses, interactive 
workshops on specific topics of interest, and ongoing stakeholder workgroups and advisory bodies to 
the Board of Directors. Activities may be in-person, virtual, or hybrid, throughout the Bay Area and may 
include a single event or a series of workshops or meetings and may include logistics to support 
accessibility and reduce barriers to participation by communities directly affected by a high burden of air 
pollution. Meetings may be during typical business hours (before 5pm) as well as in the evenings and, 
less often, on weekends. Upon request, CONTRACTOR shall provide written estimates or proposals to 
DISTRICT for community engagement and facilitation services. 

CONTRACTOR services may include but are not limited to: 

a) Provide culturally relevant information in appropriate languages (arrange for 
interpretation and translation of materials as needed); 

b) Identify and share local stakeholder contacts with DISTRICT; 
c) When relevant, design meeting flyers, promote meetings, workshops, events, and 

program progress. Advertise and send targeted invitations, track responses; 
d) Identify and secure ADA accessible community-friendly meeting facilities with low to 

zero facility rental costs - prefer venues that are transit accessible; 
e) For virtual and hybrid meetings, host virtual platform, ensure accessibility needs meet 

the requirements of the DISTRICT and provide technical assistance to DISTRICT and 
public, as requested;

f) Identify and secure appropriate child watch as requested; 
g) Provide healthy refreshments - prefer local vendors; 
h) When relevant and appropriate, provide stipends/grants to participants 

(individuals/organizations);
i) Ensure audiovisual needs are met and virtual participation tools are supplied as 

requested; 
j) Work with DISTRICT and identified partners or community groups to consult on meeting 

design and how to convene and run successful in-person, virtual, and hybrid meetings; 
k) Provide technical assistance to DISTRICT staff on various tools and techniques to support 

engagement efforts as requested;
l) Provide follow-up between meetings as needed; and
m) Provide post meeting recap summaries, recordings and transcripts, survey data as 

needed to DISTRICT staff and identified partners and community groups to document 
meeting outcomes.























BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT 
 

January 26, 2022 
 
TO:  Jack P. Broadbent, Executive Officer/APCO 
 
VIA:  Rex Sanders, Chief Administrative Officer 

Maricela Martinez, Director of Administrative Resources 
 
FROM: Kristen Law, Community Engagement Manager 
  Wendy Goodfriend, Air Quality Planning Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Request for Qualifications (RFQ) No. 2021-014 for Community 

Engagement Support and Facilitation Services Bid Evaluation and 
Recommendation of Award 

 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Based on the evaluation criteria set forth in the RFQ, staff recommends selecting and 
awarding RFQ No. 2021-014 to the following firms to constitute the environmental 
justice and equity bench for the Air District: 
 

1. Sound of Hope Radio Network, Inc. 
2. Just Cities LLC 
3. InterEthnica 
4. Rose Foundation for Communities and the Environment 
5. Estolano Advisors 
6. Equity and Wellness Institute, LLC 
7. Kearns & West 
8. Breathe California of the Bay Area, Golden Gate, and Central Coast 
9. RSCA Corporation dba Redwood Resources 
10. Nuestra Casa de East Palo Alto 
11. Imprenta Communications Group, Inc. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
During 2021, the community engagement team supported numerous workshops and 
events for Air District Divisions. We relied on our current bench of four organizations to 
successfully run those meetings and will see a continued need for that support, especially 
as we continue to offer engaging online engagement and begin to include hybrid online 
and in-person meetings. Access to a suite of consultants experienced in working with 
overburdened communities is necessary given the large number of requests for support 
from our various Divisions and partners. 
 
This RFQ identified eleven organizations qualified to support the Air District with 
engagement efforts throughout the Bay Area, particularly overburdened communities. 
These organizations have been deemed qualified by the review panel to engage people 
living in low-income communities, communities of color, limited-English proficient 
communities, and Environmental Justice communities. The list includes women and 



minority-owned businesses, and non-profit organizations. The qualified organizations are 
ready and eager to help the Air District meet our commitment to engage overburdened 
communities in actions that improve the air they breathe. Each of these organizations 
have specialized in engagement strategies or geographies that complement our team
efforts. For instance, some specialize in reaching specific ethnic groups in-language, 
another has a focused program on youth empowerment, while others have a specific or 
large geographic focus. Lastly, these 11 organizations have deep experience building 
trust with communities that we seek to engage. 
 
With this bench of consultants on board, any Division in need of connecting with 
overburdened communities will now be able to quickly develop a Master Service 
Agreement with an organization to support their outreach and engagement efforts. This 
bench gives staff the ability to select from a broader base of consultants specialized in 
working with environmental justice communities, low-income communities and/or 
communities of color. Actual expenditures with each organization will vary depending on 
the Air District s needs and the scopes of the projects. 
 
 
BID EVALUATION 
 
The RFQ was open from October 4 through November 19, 2021. Staff held a Pre-Bid 
webinar on October 27, 2021 with over 30 participants in attendance. We received 23 
proposals from the following organizations but only 22 were adequately submitted for 
evaluation.  

1. Community Resources for Independent Living  
2. All Positives Possible 
3. Goodsides LLC 
4. Nuestra Casa de East Palo Alto 
5. Equity and Wellness Institute, LLC 
6. Kearns & West 
7. InterEthnica 
8. Calm Waters Group, LLC 
9. Sound of Hope Radio Network, Inc. 
10. Critical Impact Consulting 
11. Breathe California of the Bay Area, Golden Gate, and Central Coast 
12. Casa Circulo Cultural, Inc in collaboration with Peninsula 360 Press 
13. Acterra 
14. Climate Resilient Communities 
15. RSCA Corporation dba Redwood Resources 
16. Fruition Consulting, LLC 
17. Resource Development Associates 
18. Just Cities LLC 
19. Envirocom Communications Strategies, LLC 
20. Rose Foundation for Communities and the Environment 
21. Estolano Advisors 
22. Imprenta Communications Group, Inc. 
23. Beth Altshuler Muñoz, MPH/MCP 

 
Following managements direction, the review panel consisted of one community member 
and three Air District Staff members. 
 



Review panel: 
1. Laura Cackette, Senior Air Quality Specialist, Rules & Strategic Policy 
2. Jhamere Howard, Staff Specialist I, Diversity, Equity & Inclusion
3. Phillip Mitchell, Richmond resident and member of the Richmond-North 

Richmond, San Pablo Community Steering Committee. 
4. Miriam Torres, Principal Environmental Planner, Planning and Climate Protection 

 
The reviewers met to discuss their individual scores and agreed on the organizations that 
are most qualified to provide the services outlined in the RFQ. See attached scoring 
summary. Since this RFQ is building a bench, the review panel did not find it necessary 
to conduct interviews.  Staff recommends selecting the following 11 organizations for the 
environmental justice and equity bench: 

1. Sound of Hope Radio Network, Inc. 
2. Just Cities LLC 
3. InterEthnica 
4. Rose Foundation for Communities and the Environment 
5. Estolano Advisors 
6. Equity and Wellness Institute, LLC 
7. Kearns & West 
8. Breathe California of the Bay Area, Golden Gate, and Central Coast 
9. RSCA Corporation dba Redwood Resources 
10. Nuestra Casa de East Palo Alto 
11. Imprenta Communications Group, Inc. 

 
 
Attachments 
 

1. RFQ 2021-014 Scoring Summary 





AGENDA:     9. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Notice of Proposed Amendments to Division I, Section 6.4, of the Administrative 
Code Regarding the Functions of the Administration Committee 

RECOMMENDED ACTION

The Board of Directors will receive notice that it will consider at its next regular meeting an 
amendment to the Administrative Code to add two sentences to Division I, Section 6.4, to clarify 
that the functions of the previous Executive Committee and Personnel Committee, which were 
eliminated in 2021, have been taken over by the Administration Committee. 

BACKGROUND

The Board of Directors consolidated its committee structure on January 20, 2021. One change 
was to combine the functions of the Executive Committee and Personnel Committee into a new 
Administration Committee. The description of the functions of those two committees was copied 
verbatim to describe the functions of the new Administration Committee, as set forth in the 
current version of the Administrative Code in Division I, Section 6.4 – Administration 
Committee. The January 20, 2021 revisions are shown in Attachment A, which is a redline 
version showing the made to Section 6.4. The clear intent of this change was to have the new 
Administration Committee take over all of the functions of the former Executive Committee and 
Personnel Committee.

When this change was made, however, certain other sections of the Administrative Code that 
refer to the Executive Committee and Personnel Committee were not revised to reflect the 
change. Those Code provisions still refer to the Executive Committee and Personnel Committee, 
even though those committees were discontinued after January 20, 2021. This situation could 
create confusion when applying those other provisions, as the language refers to committees that 
no longer exist. 



2

DISCUSSION

To eliminate any potential confusion that could arise from this artefact, staff propose adding two 
sentences to the description of the Administration Committee’s functions in Section 6.4 of Part I 
of the Administrative Code, as follows:   
 

The Administration Committee performs all of the functions of the Executive Committee 
and Personnel Committee as those committees existed prior to January 20, 2021. Any 
function assigned to the Executive Committee or Personnel Committee under this Code 
shall be performed by the Administration Committee.

These sentences will make clear that whenever the Administrative Code refers to an action to be 
taken by the Executive Committee or Personnel Committee, that action shall be taken by the 
Administration Committee. The proposed changes are shown in redline format in Attachments B 
(clean version) and C (redline version). 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Alexander G. Crockett

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  Excerpt from 12-20-2021 Board Memo re amending Admin Code to reorganize committees
2.  Admin. Code - Section 6.4 Administration Committee 
3.  Admin. Code - Section 6.4 Administration Committee Redline Version



Proposed Amended Administrative Code, Division I, Operating Policies and 
Procedures, Section 6 Board of Directors Committees - Redline

SECTION 6 BOARD OF DIRECTORS, COMMITTEES

6.1 SPECIAL COMMITTEES. 
All special committees shall be appointed by the Chairperson, unless otherwise directed by the 
Board.

6.2 STANDING COMMITTEES. (Revised 3/6/2015) 
Standing Committees of the Board of Directors shall be the following: 
(a) ExecutiveAdministration Committee, consisting of the Chairperson of the Board, who shall be
Chairperson of the Committee, the Vice-Chairperson of the Board, the Board Secretary, the last
past Chairperson and five (5up to seven (7) other Directors appointed by the Chairperson.
(b) Budget and FinanceLegislative Committee, consisting of nine (9up to eleven (11) Directors
appointed by the Chairperson.
(c) PersonnelMobile Source and Climate Impacts Committee, consisting of nine (9up to eleven (11)
Directors appointed by the Chairperson.
(d) LegislativeCommunity Equity Health and Justice Committee, consisting of nine (9up to eleven
(11) Directors appointed by the Chairperson.
(e) MobileStationary Source and Climate Impacts Committee, consisting of nine (9up to eleven
(11) Directors appointed by the Chairperson.
(f) Public Engagement Committee, consisting of (9) Directors appointed by the Chairperson.
(g) Stationary Source Committee, consisting of nine (9) Directors appointed by the Chairperson. (f
(h) Climate Protection Committee, consisting of nine (9) Directors appointed by the Chairperson.
(i) The Chairperson shall be an ex-officio member of all Standing Committees of the Board of
Directors.
(jg) Each Standing Committee shall have authority to make recommendations to the Board of

standing committee may discuss but may not make recommendations to the Board of Directors
regarding issues outside of its jurisdiction and shall refer such matters to the appropriate
committee. Except as specified in this Division or as otherwise specified by the Board of
Directors, Standing Committees are not delegated decision-making authority.

(h) In no event shall the number of members, including the Chairperson of the Board, appointed
to a Committee, constitute a quorum of the Board of Directors.

6.3 ROTATION OF COMMITTEES. 

The membership on committees shall ordinarily be rotated among the Counties so as to secure 
participation in the work of the District by as broad a representation as may be possible.

6.4 DUTIES OF EXECUTIVEADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE.
It is the function of the ExecutiveThe Administration Committee towill consider such matters of policy 
affecting the affairs of the District as may arise from time to time when the Board of Directors is 
not in session. The ExecutiveAdministration Committee shall consult with the officers of the 



District and, within the scope and limitations of resolutions or other policies adopted by the 
Board of Directors, shall implement and make more specific the policies and programs of the 
District and, within such limits determine policies for the officers of the District. The 
ExecutiveAdministration Committee shall not have authority to authorize the expenditure of any 
moneys otherwise than is appropriated by the budget adopted by the Board of Directors or to 
alter, change or reverse any policy established by the Board of Directors. (See Section I-6.7) The 
ExecutiveAdministration Committee shallhaveshall have the responsibility for overseeing and 
guiding staff activities relative to long range planning and for receiving short range and long 
range plan proposals submitted by the District staff, as well as goals and objectives of the 
District; and for endorsing each year a long range plan to be submitted to the Board for its 
approval, and to the Budget and Finance Committee for its use in reviewing the Budget. The 
ExecutiveAdministration Committee should review the goals and objectives, short- and long -
range plans of the California Air Resources Board to the extent that they are known. The 
ExecutiveAdministration Committee may receive and consider staff reports, presentations by staff 
members or other persons, and any other matter not requiring action by the Board. The 
ExecutiveAdministration Committee shall subsequently report on such matters to the Board at a 
regular meeting of the Board. 

6.5 BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE. (Revised 5/3/00)  
It is the function of the Budget and FinanceThe Administration Committee towill also assist in the 
preparation of the annual budget for the District and to present the annual budget with 
recommendations to the District Board of Directors. The Budget and FinanceAdministration 
Committee also is responsible for approving administrative policy proposed by the APCO in the 
area of finance, procurement, insurance and related matters. At Budget review time each year the 
Committee shall evaluate District goals and objectives and recommend to the Board of Directors 
any changes, deletions and additions which it determines to be appropriate.  

6.6 PERSONNEL COMMITTEE.  
It is the function of the PersonnelThe Administration Committee towill also consider and recommend 
policies of the District relating to procurement of officers and employees, employment of 
officers and employees, discharge of officers and employees, salaries and working conditions, 
and the retaining of consultants. The PersonnelAdministration Committee shall keep itself 
informed as to the work of the Advisory Council and Hearing Board, to be informed about 
persons in the community who may be qualified to serve on the Advisory Council and Hearing 
Board, and to recommend to the Board of Directors selection of such persons whenever 
vacancies may from time to time occur in the Advisory Council and Hearing Board.  

6.75 LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEE.  
It is the function of theThe Legislative Committee towill consider and recommend legislative 
proposals for the District and to consider and recommend a District position on all proposed 
legislation affecting the District. The Legislative Committee, in conjunction with District staff 
and the District Legislative Advocate, will keep itself informed on pending legislative matters 
and will meet and/or confer with appropriate legislators as necessary.  

6.86 NOMINATING COMMITTEE. (Revised 10/4/95)  
The Nominating Committee will consist of the Chairperson of the Board, the past Chairperson of 
the Board and three (3) appointees of the Chairperson of the Board, or in the event the past 



Attachment: B

6.3 ROTATION OF COMMITTEES.

The membership on committees shall ordinarily be rotated among the Counties so as to secure 
participation in the work of the District by as broad a representation as may be possible.

6.4 ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE. (REVISED 2/16/22)

The Administration Committee will consider such matters of policy affecting the affairs of the 
District as may arise from time to time when the Board of Directors is not in session. The 
Administration Committee shall consult with the officers of the District and, within the scope 
and limitations of resolutions or other policies adopted by the Board of Directors, shall 
implement and make more specific the policies and programs of the District and, within such 
limits determine policies for the officers of the District. The Administration Committee shall 
not have authority to authorize the expenditure of any moneys otherwise than is appropriated 
by the budget adopted by the Board of Directors or to alter, change or reverse any policy 
established by the Board of Directors.  (See Section I-6.7)  The Administration Committee 
shall have the responsibility for overseeing and guiding staff activities relative to long range 
planning and for receiving short range and long range plan proposals submitted by the District 
staff, as well as goals and objectives of the District; and for endorsing each year a long range 
plan to be submitted to the Board for its approval, and for its use in reviewing the Budget.
The Administration Committee should review the goals and objectives, short and long range 
plans of the California Air Resources Board to the extent that they are known. The 
Administration Committee may receive and consider staff reports, presentations by staff 
members or other persons, and any other matter not requiring action by the Board. The 
Administration Committee shall subsequently report on such matters to the Board at a regular 
meeting of the Board.

The Administration Committee will also consider and recommend policies of the District 
relating to procurement of officers and employees, employment of officers and employees, 
discharge of officers and employees, salaries and working conditions, and the retaining of 
consultants. The Administration Committee shall keep itself informed as to the work of the 
Advisory Council and Hearing Board, to be informed about persons in the community who 
may be qualified to serve on the Advisory Council and Hearing Board, and to recommend to 
the Board of Directors selection of such persons whenever vacancies may from time to time 
occur in the Advisory Council and Hearing Board.

The Administration Committee performs all of the functions of the Executive Committee 
and Personnel as those committees existed prior to January 20, 2021. Any function assigned 
to the Executive Committee or Personnel Committee under this Code shall be performed by 
the Administration Committee. 

6.5 BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE. (REVISED 2/16/22)

The Budget and Finance Committee will also assist in the preparation of the annual budget for 
the District and to present the annual budget with recommendations to the District Board of 
Directors.  The Budget and Finance Committee also is responsible for approving 
administrative policy proposed by the APCO in the area of finance, procurement, insurance 
and related matters. At Budget review time each year the Committee shall evaluate District 
goals and objectives and recommend to the Board of Directors any changes, deletions and 
additions which it determines to be appropriate.

6.6 LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEE.

The Legislative Committee will consider and recommend legislative proposals for the District 
and consider and recommend a District position on all proposed legislation affecting the 
District. The Legislative Committee, in conjunction with District staff and the District 
Legislative Advocate, will keep itself informed on pending legislative matters and will meet 
and/or confer with appropriate legislators as necessary.

6.7 NOMINATING COMMITTEE.  (Revised 10/4/95)

The Nominating Committee will consist of the Chairperson of the Board, the past Chairperson 
of the Board and three (3) appointees of the Chairperson of the Board, or in the event the past 
Chairperson of the Board is no longer serving on the Board, four (4) appointees of the



Attachment: C

6.3 ROTATION OF COMMITTEES.

The membership on committees shall ordinarily be rotated among the Counties so as to secure 
participation in the work of the District by as broad a representation as may be possible.

6.4 ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE. (REVISED 2/16/22)

The Administration Committee will consider such matters of policy affecting the affairs of the 
District as may arise from time to time when the Board of Directors is not in session. The 
Administration Committee shall consult with the officers of the District and, within the scope 
and limitations of resolutions or other policies adopted by the Board of Directors, shall 
implement and make more specific the policies and programs of the District and, within such 
limits determine policies for the officers of the District. The Administration Committee shall 
not have authority to authorize the expenditure of any moneys otherwise than is appropriated 
by the budget adopted by the Board of Directors or to alter, change or reverse any policy 
established by the Board of Directors.  (See Section I-6.7)  The Administration Committee 
shall have the responsibility for overseeing and guiding staff activities relative to long range 
planning and for receiving short range and long range plan proposals submitted by the District 
staff, as well as goals and objectives of the District; and for endorsing each year a long range 
plan to be submitted to the Board for its approval, and for its use in reviewing the Budget.
The Administration Committee should review the goals and objectives, short and long range 
plans of the California Air Resources Board to the extent that they are known. The 
Administration Committee may receive and consider staff reports, presentations by staff 
members or other persons, and any other matter not requiring action by the Board. The 
Administration Committee shall subsequently report on such matters to the Board at a regular 
meeting of the Board.

The Administration Committee will also consider and recommend policies of the District 
relating to procurement of officers and employees, employment of officers and employees, 
discharge of officers and employees, salaries and working conditions, and the retaining of 
consultants. The Administration Committee shall keep itself informed as to the work of the 
Advisory Council and Hearing Board, to be informed about persons in the community who 
may be qualified to serve on the Advisory Council and Hearing Board, and to recommend to 
the Board of Directors selection of such persons whenever vacancies may from time to time 
occur in the Advisory Council and Hearing Board.

The Administration Committee performs all of the functions of the Executive Committee 
and Personnel as those committees existed prior to January 20, 2021. Any function assigned 
to the Executive Committee or Personnel Committee under this Code shall be performed by 
the Administration Committee. 

6.5 BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE. (REVISED 2/16/22)

The Budget and Finance Committee will also assist in the preparation of the annual budget for 
the District and to present the annual budget with recommendations to the District Board of 
Directors.  The Budget and Finance Committee also is responsible for approving 
administrative policy proposed by the APCO in the area of finance, procurement, insurance 
and related matters. At Budget review time each year the Committee shall evaluate District 
goals and objectives and recommend to the Board of Directors any changes, deletions and 
additions which it determines to be appropriate.

6.6 LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEE.

The Legislative Committee will consider and recommend legislative proposals for the District 
and consider and recommend a District position on all proposed legislation affecting the 
District. The Legislative Committee, in conjunction with District staff and the District 
Legislative Advocate, will keep itself informed on pending legislative matters and will meet 
and/or confer with appropriate legislators as necessary.

6.7 NOMINATING COMMITTEE.  (Revised 10/4/95)

The Nominating Committee will consist of the Chairperson of the Board, the past Chairperson 
of the Board and three (3) appointees of the Chairperson of the Board, or in the event the past 
Chairperson of the Board is no longer serving on the Board, four (4) appointees of the



AGENDA:     10. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Authorization to Execute a Legal Services Agreement with Shute Mihaly & 
Weinberger to Represent the Air District in Ongoing Litigation Regarding Regulation 
6-5

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Authorize the Interim Executive Officer/APCO to execute a legal retainer agreement with Shute 
Mihaly & Weinberger LLP for a total amount not to exceed $425,000 to represent the Air 
District in ongoing litigation regarding District Regulation 6, Rule 5; and authorize the transfer 
of $425,000 from the Litigation Contingency General Fund Reserves to amend the Fiscal Year 
(FY) 2023 Legal Office’s Litigation program budget.  

BACKGROUND

In July of 2021, the Board of Directors adopted amendments to Air District Regulation 6, Rule 5 
– Particulate Emissions From Petroleum Refinery Fluidized Catalytic Cracking Units 
(Regulation 6-5). These amendments were a very high-profile and important regulatory effort by 
the Air District. The amendments will achieve significant public health benefits by reducing the 
amount of fine particulate matter emitted from Bay Area petroleum refineries. The amendments 
also fulfilled a commitment the Board of Directors made in its 2018 AB 617 Expedited BARCT 
Implementation Schedule to update this regulation.

In September of 2021, two affected petroleum refineries filed Petitions for Writ of Mandate in 
Contra Costa County Superior Court challenging the Board’s adoption of the Regulation 6-5 
amendments. The two cases are Martinez Refining Co. LLC v. BAAQMD (Case No. N-21-
1568) and Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. BAAQMD (Case No. N21-1739). The cases allege that the 
Air District violated requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and the 
California Health & Safety Code in adopting these amendments to Regulation 6-5. The Chevron 
U.S.A., Inc. case also alleges violations of the California Public Records Act. The Air District 
strongly denies that it violated any legal requirements in connection with these amendments.

The parties are currently in the process of assembling the administrative record on which this 
case will be tried. It is anticipated that the administrative record in this case will be well in 



2

excess of 100,000 pages of documents. The parties currently expect that the administrative 
record will be complete by mid-August. After the record is complete, the court will establish a 
briefing schedule, the parties will prepare and submit their briefs, and then the court will hold a 
hearing and render a decision. 

DISCUSSION

Given the high-profile nature and importance of this litigation, the size of this case, and the 
current staffing needs in the Legal Division, the District Counsel’s Office determined in March 
of this year that the cases would need to be handled by outside counsel. Given the nature of the 
litigation, Shute Mihaly & Weinberger LLP (Shute Mihaly) was the clear choice as the best firm 
to handle the case. Shute Mihaly is a public interest law firm of over 40 attorneys that represents 
public agencies, non-profits, tribes, and community groups on environmental law issues and 
related matters. It is one of the state’s leading environmental law firms and has extensive 
experience in defending public agencies (including both the Bay Area and South Coast Air 
Quality Management Districts) in CEQA litigation and in litigation challenging complex 
government regulations. It has represented both of these air districts (and many other public 
agencies) at trial and in the California courts of appeal and Supreme Court, and it has also 
successfully represented the South Coast District and other public agencies in analogous cases at 
the U.S. Supreme Court. Notably, Shute Mihaly represented the Air District in the California 
Building Industry Association v. Bay Area Air Quality Management District case, which went to 
the California Supreme Court, and the District found the quality of the firm’s representation to be 
first rate. The attorneys in the District Counsel’s office are very familiar with all of the leading 
law firms in California with expertise in CEQA litigation, and they are not aware of any other 
firm that would be better suited to handle this matter.

When the District Counsel’s office brought Shute Mihaly in to work on this case, it did so under 
a pre-existing Framework Agreement Regarding Representation (Framework Agreement). Under 
the Framework Agreement, the Air District retained Shute Mihaly to represent it on an as-
requested basis for matters within the District’s mission for which the District may need 
assistance or specialized expertise, and in particular in connection with complex CEQA matters. 
The Framework Agreement was set up to serve as a framework pursuant to which the District 
and Shute Mihaly could mutually agree to Shute Mihaly’s representation of the District on 
particular matters.

Now that Shute Mihaly is getting extensively involved in the Regulation 6-5 litigation, it is 
appropriate to enter into a matter-specific retainer agreement for this particular matter, rather 
than continuing to operate under the Framework Agreement. District Counsel and Shute Mihaly 
have discussed and negotiated the terms of such an agreement, which are set forth in the 
Supplemental Legal Retainer Agreement included with this memorandum. Staff seek Board 
authorization to enter into this agreement.

The agreement contains a limit on authorized fees of $425,000. This number is based on the 
estimated total cost for Shute Mihaly to represent the District in the two cases through 
conclusion of the trial court proceedings, based on the firm’s experience in defending public 
agencies in comparable litigation. This is only an estimate, as litigation costs cannot be predicted 



3

with certainty. Accordingly, it is possible that litigation expenses could exceed the projected 
estimate. Shute Mihaly will provide the District with advance notice if it expects the total 
litigation costs to exceed $425,000. In the event that it looks like costs could exceed this amount, 
staff will come back to the Board to seek a supplemental authorization before exceeding the 
authorized limit of $425,000.   

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

The Fiscal Year Ending (FYE) 2023 Approved Budget included $3 million for litigation 
contingencies. This budget allocation is sufficient to cover the anticipated costs of this litigation. 
If authorized, the FY 2023 Legal Office’s Program 205 – Litigation will be amended by 
$425,000 with a transfer of $425,000 from the $3 million for Litigation Contingency General 
Fund Reserves. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Alexander G. Crockett
Reviewed by: Sharon L. Landers

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  Supplemental Legal Retainer Agreement with Shute Mihaly & Weinberger LLP



Via Electronic Mail Only 

Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Bay Area Air 
Quality Management District  
Martinez Refining Company LLC. v. Bay Area Air Quality Management District







AGENDA:     11. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Report of the Legislative Committee Meeting of June 13, 2022

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None. 

BACKGROUND

None. 

DISCUSSION

The Legislative Committee met on Monday, June 13, 2022, and approved the minutes of May 9, 
2022. This meeting was conducted under procedures in accordance with Assembly Bill 361. 
Members of the Committee participated by teleconference.

The Committee then received and discussed an oral presentation from Alan Abbs, Legislative 
Officer, regarding an update on the State Legislative Budget. This summary included items of 
interest to the Air District (Assembly Bill 617, Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund, Carl Moyer 
Program.)

The Committee then received and discussed the staff presentation Air District-Sponsored 
Bills, summarizing bills that are being sponsored by the Air District. These bills included:

Assembly Bill 1897 (Wicks) - Nonvehicular air pollution control: civil penalties: 
refineries;
Assembly Bill 2214 (C. Garcia) - California Environmental Quality Act: schoolsites: 
acquisition of property; school districts, charter schools, and private schools;
Assembly Bill 2721 (Lee) - Bay Area Air Quality Management District: district board: 
compensation; and
Assembly Bill 2836 (E. Garcia) - Carl Moyer Memorial Air Quality Standards 
Attainment Program: vehicle registration fees: California tire fee.



2

Finally, the Committee received status updates for the following bills during staff’s oral 
report State Legislative Update:

Assembly Bill (Lee) – Local government; open and public meetings;
Assembly Bill 2449 (Rubio) - Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences;
Assembly Bill 2141 (E. Garcia) - Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund: community projects: 
funding; 
Assembly Bill 2563 (Quirk) - Air pollution: permits: mobile fueling on-demand tank 
vehicles; 
Assembly Bill 2852 (Bloom) - Air pollution control districts and air quality management 
districts: independent special districts: funding; and
Senate Bill 1382 (Gonzalez) - Air pollution: Clean Cars 4 All Program: Sales and Use 
Tax Law: zero emissions vehicle exemption. 

Although this was not an action item, the consensus of the Committee members present was to 
give direction to staff to propose the Board adopt an “oppose unless amended” position regarding 
Assembly Bill 2449 (Rubio). Mr. Abbs said that, while he might not be able to present on this 
bill to the Board prior to the bill’s final legislative hearings, he would immediately communicate 
to the legislators and the bill’s author the Air District’s Legislative Committee members’ 
concerns regarding the following language within the bill, “The legislative body of a local 
agency may use teleconferencing without complying with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if, 
during the teleconference meeting, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body 
participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda…”

The next meeting of this Committee will be held on Monday, July 11, 2022 at 1:00 p.m., via 
webcast, teleconference, or Zoom, pursuant to procedures in accordance with Assembly Bill 361 
(Rivas 2021). This concludes the Chair’s Report of the Legislative Committee. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Marcy Hiratzka 
Reviewed by: Vanessa Johnson



3

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  Legislative Committee June 13, 2022 Meeting Memorandums



AGENDA:     5. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson Pauline Russo Cutter and Members
of the Legislative Committee 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: June 13, 2022 

Re: State Legislative Budget Update

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None; receive and file. 

BACKGROUND

On January 10, 2022, Governor Newsom released his initial proposal for the fiscal year (FY) 
2022-23 Budget. On May 13, 2022, the Governor released the May Revision (May Revise) to the 
proposed 2022-23 Budget. The Senate and Assembly must vote on and pass their proposed 
budget bill by June 15, 2022, to meet the state’s constitutional deadline. The budget bill must be 
signed by the Governor by July 1, 2022.

Prior to the Assembly and Senate voting on a budget bill, the bill must be in print for 72 hours, or 
no later than June 12, 2022. 

DISCUSSION

Staff will provide an update to the Legislative Committee (Committee) on activities related to the 
budget, as well as an update about the future Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund Budget.

Attached is a table of programs significant to the Air District, along with budget data from the 
previous year. Compared to previous years, through the May Revise, there is significant new 
funding for zero-emission vehicle and infrastructure programs, as well as new funding for 
various building decarbonization initiatives.

On June 1, 2022, Senate and Assembly leadership announced a budget deal between the two 
houses that would meet the July 1st deadline, but would require a second budget later in the 
summer to address climate and energy issues. The budget deal as described includes $300 
million for AB 617, with the agreement that there would also be future ongoing funding for AB 
617. The length of ongoing funding has not been revealed. The proposed budget still requires the 
Governor’s approval, and further negotiations are likely.



2

Staff will likely see the agreed upon budget in print only a day or so prior to the Committee 
meeting, and will provide updates and commentary as necessary. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Alan Abbs
Reviewed by: Sharon L. Landers

ATTACHMENTS:

1. 2022-23 Proposed State Budget vs. Previous Year



 2022-23 State Budget vs. Previous Year
Statewide Funding Amounts

Program
FY 21/22 

Approved Budget

FY 22/23
Proposed Budget

(January)

FY 22/23
Proposed Budget

(May Revise)

FY 22/23
Proposed Budget
(AB 154/SB 154)

AB 617 – Implementation $50M $50M $50M

AB 617 – Incentives $260M $180M $200M

AB 617 – Community Grants $10M $10M $10M

Clean Vehicle Rebate $525M $0 $425M *

Clean Truck & Bus $315M $600M $600M *

Ag Diesel Engine Replacement $213M $150M $150M *

Clean Cars For All/
School Bus/Equity

$150M $256M $430M *

AB 836 – Clean Air Centers $25M $0 $0 $0

Prescribed Fire $2M $2M $2M *

Carl Moyer Program $247M $130M $130M $130M

Zero-Emission Lawn and 
Garden

$30M $0 $0 $0

Woodstove Replacement $5M $0 $0 $0

Port and Freight Goods 
Movement Infrastructure

$1.2B $1.2B

ZEV Port Equipment $875M $875M

ZEV Drayage and Transit Bus $935M $935M *

Long Duration Energy Storage
$380M

(over two years)
$380M

(over two years)
*

Low-Income Residential 
Decarbonization

$622M
(over two years)

$622M
(over two years)

*

Consumer Rebates for 
Residential Decarbonization

$300M
(over two years)

$300M
(over two years)

*

*Deferred to 
Summer '22

$1.2B
(over two years)

$300M

Updated 6/7/2022



AGENDA:     6. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson Pauline Russo Cutter and Members
of the Legislative Committee 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: June 13, 2022 

Re: Air District-Sponsored Bills

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None; receive and file. 

BACKGROUND

This year, the Air District is sponsoring the following three bills:

Assembly Bill (AB) 1897 (Wicks) – Nonvehicular air pollution control: civil penalties: 
refineries.
AB 2214 (C. Garcia and Lee) – California Environmental Quality Act: schoolsites: 
acquisition of property: school districts, charter schools, and private schools.
AB 2721 (Lee) – Bay Area Air Quality Management District: district board: 
compensation.

The Air District is also co-sponsoring the following bills:

 AB 2836 (E. Garcia) – Carl Moyer Memorial Air Quality Standards Attainment 
Program: vehicle registration fees: California tire fee.

DISCUSSION

Staff will provide the Legislative Committee with a summary and status of the three Air District-
sponsored bills and one co-sponsored bill.

AB 1897 (Wicks) - Nonvehicular air pollution control: civil penalties: refineries.
CapitolTrack Bill Summary: Current law prohibits a person from discharging from nonvehicular 
sources air contaminants or other materials that cause injury, detriment, nuisance, or annoyance 
to any considerable number of persons or to the public, or that endanger the comfort, repose, 
health, or safety of those persons or the public, or that cause, or have a natural tendency to cause, 
injury or damage to business or property. Under current law, a person who violates this 



2

provision, or any other statute, rule, regulation, permit, or order, as provided, is strictly liable for 
a civil penalty of not more than $10,000, unless that person alleges by affirmative defense and 
establishes that the act was not the result of intentional or negligent conduct, in which case the 
person is strictly liable for a civil penalty of not more than $5,000. A violator who acts 
negligently, knowingly, willfully and intentionally, or with reckless disregard, is liable for a civil 
penalty in a greater amount, as specified. Current law requires the civil penalties to be assessed 
and recovered in a court of competent jurisdiction through a civil action brought by the Attorney 
General, a district attorney, or the attorney for the district in which the violation occurs. Current 
law precludes prosecution under specified statutes if civil penalties are recovered for the same 
offense. This bill would make a person who violates the above provision liable for a civil penalty 
of not more than $30,000 if the violation results from a discharge from a stationary source 
required by federal law to be included in an operating permit program established pursuant to 
Title V of the federal Clean Air Act, and the stationary source is a refinery, as defined, the 
discharge results in a disruption to the community, and the discharge contains or includes one or 
more toxic air contaminants, as specified.

Current Status: AB 1897 was introduced by Assemblymember Wicks on February 9, 2022. This 
bill made its way through the Assembly committee process and was voted on the Assembly 
Floor on May 26, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 41-25. With the first house 
completed, AB 1897 has been ordered to the Senate and is currently pending referral.

AB 2214 (C. Garcia and Lee) - California Environmental Quality Act: schoolsites: acquisition of 
property: school districts, charter schools, and private schools.
CapitolTrack Bill Summary: Current law requires the governing board of a school district, before 
acquiring title to property for a new schoolsite or for an addition to a present schoolsite, to give 
notice in writing of the proposed acquisition to the planning commission. Current law requires 
the planning commission to investigate the proposed site and submit a written report to the 
governing board of the school district, as provided. Current law prohibits the governing board 
from acquiring title to the property until the report of the planning commission has been 
received. This bill would impose those prohibitions, and related requirements, on the governing 
body of a charter school and the governing body of a private school, and would make the 
provisions relating to school districts also applicable to charter schools and private schools, as 
provided. The bill would apply the Phase I environmental assessment requirements to charter 
schools and private schools, without conditioning the requirements on the receipt of state funds.

Current Status: AB 2214 was introduced by Assembly Members Cristina Garcia and Alex Lee on 
February 15, 2022. This bill made its way through the Assembly committee process and was 
voted on the Assembly Floor on May 23, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 50-19. With 
the first house completed, AB 2214 has been ordered to the Senate and has been double-referred 
to Senate Committees on Environmental Quality and Education - hearing schedule pending.

AB 2721 (Lee) - Bay Area Air Quality Management District: district board: compensation.
CapitolTrack Bill Summary: Current law establishes a district board to govern the Bay Area Air 
Quality Management District and prescribes the membership of the district board. Current law 
authorizes the district board to provide, by ordinance, compensation not to exceed $100 per day 
for board members for attending meetings of the board or committees of the board or while on 



3

official business of the district and not to exceed $6,000 per year. Existing law also requires 
board members to receive actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their 
duties. This bill would revise the amount of compensation that a member of the board may 
receive for attending a meeting of the board or attending a meeting while on official business of 
the district to an amount not to exceed $100 per meeting and $200 per day. The bill would also 
authorize a member of the board to receive compensation for active transportation travel to one 
of these meetings and would subject this compensation to the $6,000 total annual compensation 
limit.

Current Status: AB 2721 was introduced by Assemblymember Lee on February 18, 2022. This 
bill made its way through the Assembly committee process and was voted on the Assembly 
Floor  on April 18, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 66-3. With the first house 
completed, AB 2721 was ordered to the Senate and has been double-referred to Senate 
Committees on Environmental Quality and Governance & Finance. The bill was heard in Senate 
Environmental Quality on June 1, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 5:0. Scheduled 
hearing for Senate Governance & Finance Committee pending.

AB 2836 (E. Garcia) - Carl Moyer Memorial Air Quality Standards Attainment Program: 
vehicle registration fees: California tire fee.
CapitolTrack Summary: Current law, beginning January 1, 2024, limits the Carl Moyer Program 
to funding projects that reduce emissions of oxides of nitrogen (NOx) from covered sources. 
Current law, until January 1, 2024, defines covered source for purposes of the Carl Moyer 
Program to include any marine vessel and any other category necessary for the state and air 
districts to meet air quality goals. This bill would extend the current authorization for the Carl 
Moyer Program to fund a broader range of projects that reduce emissions from covered sources 
until January 1, 2033.

Current Status: AB 2836 was introduced by Assemblymember Eduardo Garcia on February 18, 
2022. This bill made its way through the Assembly committee process and was voted on the 
Assembly Floor on May 25, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 65-0. With the first house 
completed, AB 2836 has been ordered to the Senate and is currently pending referral. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Alan Abbs
Reviewed by: Sharon L. Landers



4

ATTACHMENTS:

1. AB 1897 (Wicks) - Bill Text - As Amended on April 27, 2022
2. AB 2214 (C. Garcia and Lee) - Bill Text - As Amended on April 25, 2022
3. AB 2721 (Lee) - Bill Text - As Amended on March 10, 2022
4. AB 2836 (E. Garcia) - Bill Text - As Amended on May 19, 2022
5. PowerPoint - Air District-Sponsored Bills - Leg Meeting June 13, 2022





  



  

  

    

    

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

    

    
  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  
  
  
  
  
  

  



  



  

  



    

  

  



  

  

  
  

  

  

  



  

    



  

  
  

  



  

  

  
  

  



  



  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

    

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  



  

  

  

  

    



  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

    

  

  



  
  

  

  

  

  

  
  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  







  

  

  

  

  

  

  





  



  

  



  

  

  

  



  

  

    

  

  

  

  

  



  

  
  

  

  

  



  
  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  
  
  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  
  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  
  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  
  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  



    

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

    

  



  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  



  

    

    

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  





  

  

  

  

  

    

  

  



  

  

  

  

  



  

  
  

  

  

  

    

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  
  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  



AGENDA:     7. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson Pauline Russo Cutter and Members
of the Legislative Committee 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: June 13, 2022 

Re: State Legislative Update

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None; receive and file. 

BACKGROUND

The last day for each house to pass bills introduced in that house was May 27, 2022.

Below are bills the Air District has taken positions on or discussed during the 2022 Legislative 
Session and their current status:

Assembly Bill (AB) 1944 (Lee) - Local government: open and public meetings.
AB 2449 (Rubio) - Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.
AB 2141 (E. Garcia) - Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund: community projects: funding.
AB 2206 (Lee) - Nonattainment basins: employee parking: parking cash-out program.
AB 2563 (Quirk) - Air pollution: permits: mobile fueling on-demand tank vehicles.
AB 2816 (Ting) - State Air Resources Board: zero-emission incentive programs: 
requirements.
AB 2852 (Bloom) - Air pollution control districts and air quality management districts: 
independent special districts: funding.
AB 2910 (Santiago) - Nonvehicular air pollution: civil penalties.
Senate Bill (SB) 1235 (Borgeas) - Air pollution: portable equipment: emergency events.
SB 1382 (Gonzalez) - Air pollution: Clean Cars 4 All Program: Sales and Use Tax Law: 
zero emissions vehicle exemption.
SB 1393 (Archuleta) - Energy: appliances: local requirements.



2

DISCUSSION

Staff will provide the Legislative Committee (Committee) with a brief summary and status of 
bills listed on the attached list. Specifically, staff will discuss the following bills:

AB 1944 (Lee) - Local government: open and public meetings.
CapitolTrack Summary: The Ralph M. Brown Act requires, with specified exceptions, that all 
meetings of a legislative body of a local agency, as those terms are defined, be open and public 
and that all persons be permitted to attend and participate. The act contains specified provisions 
regarding the timelines for posting an agenda and providing for the ability of the public to 
observe and provide comment. The act allows for meetings to occur via teleconferencing subject 
to certain requirements, particularly that the legislative body notice each teleconference location 
of each member that will be participating in the public meeting, that each teleconference location 
be accessible to the public, that members of the public be allowed to address the legislative body 
at each teleconference location, that the legislative body post an agenda at each teleconference 
location, and that at least a quorum of the legislative body participate from locations within the 
boundaries of the local agency’s jurisdiction. The act provides an exemption to the jurisdictional 
requirement for health authorities, as defined. This bill would require the agenda to identify any 
member of the legislative body that will participate in the meeting remotely.

Current Status: Made its way through the Assembly committee process and was voted on the 
Assembly Floor on May 26, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 44-12. Ordered to the 
Senate – this bill is currently pending referral.

Position: Support

AB 2449 (Rubio) - Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.
CapitolTrack Summary: The Ralph M. Brown Act requires, with specified exceptions, that all 
meetings of a legislative body of a local agency, as those terms are defined, be open and public 
and that all persons be permitted to attend and participate. The act contains specified provisions 
regarding the timelines for posting an agenda and providing for the ability of the public to 
observe and provide comment. The act allows for meetings to occur via teleconferencing subject 
to certain requirements, particularly that the legislative body notice each teleconference location 
of each member that will be participating in the public meeting, that each teleconference location 
be accessible to the public, that members of the public be allowed to address the legislative body 
at each teleconference location, that the legislative body post an agenda at each teleconference 
location, and that at least a quorum of the legislative body participate from locations within the 
boundaries of the local agency’s jurisdiction. The act provides an exemption to the jurisdictional 
requirement for health authorities, as defined. This bill would revise and recast those 
teleconferencing provisions and, until January 1, 2028, would authorize a local agency to use 
teleconferencing without complying with the teleconferencing requirements that each 
teleconference location be identified in the notice and agenda and that each teleconference 
location be accessible to the public if at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body 
participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda that is 
open to the public and situated within the local agency’s jurisdiction.



3

Current Status: Made its way through the Assembly committee process and was voted on the 
Assembly Floor on May 26, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 65:4. Ordered to the 
Senate – this bill is currently pending referral.

Position: None

AB 2141 (E. Garcia) - Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund: community projects: funding. 
CapitolTrack Summary: Current law requires that all moneys, except for fines and penalties, 
collected by the State Air Resources Board from the auction or sale of allowances as part of a 
market-based compliance mechanism be deposited in the Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund and 
be available, upon appropriation by the Legislature, for purposes relating to the reduction of 
greenhouse gas emissions. Current law continuously appropriates 35% of the annual proceeds of 
the fund for transit, affordable housing, and sustainable communities programs and 25% of the 
annual proceeds of the fund for certain components of a specified high-speed rail project. This 
bill would continuously appropriate to the state board, beginning in the 2023–24 fiscal year, 20% 
of the annual proceeds of the Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund, up to $600,000,000, for 
allocation to air pollution control districts and air quality management districts for the purpose of 
supporting community emissions reduction strategies in, and reimbursement for participation by, 
communities selected by the state board, as specified.

Current Status: Made its way through the Assembly committee process and was voted on the 
Assembly Floor on May 23, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 54-18. Ordered to the 
Senate – this bill is currently pending referral.

Position: Support

AB 2206 (Lee) - Nonattainment basins: employee parking: parking cash-out program. 
CapitolTrack Summary: Current law requires, in any air basin designated as nonattainment for 
certain air quality standards, an employer, defined as an employer of 50 persons or more that 
provides a parking subsidy to employees, to also offer a parking cash-out program. Current law 
defines “parking cash-out program” as an employer-funded program under which an employer 
offers to provide a cash allowance to an employee equivalent to the parking subsidy that the 
employer would otherwise pay to provide the employee with a parking space. Current law 
defines a “parking subsidy” as the difference between the out-of-pocket amount paid by an 
employer on a regular basis in order to secure the availability of an employee parking space not 
owned by the employer and the price, if any, charged to an employee for use of that space. This 
bill would revise the definitions of “employer,” “parking cash-out program,” and “parking 
subsidy.” The bill would require a lessor that enters into or renews a lease on or after January 1, 
2023, with a lessee that is an employer and that offers parking to the employer to list the market-
rate parking costs as a separate line item in the lease, as provided, or to provide a list of parking 
costs to the employer within 30 days after the lease is entered into or renewed.

Current Status: Made its way through the Assembly committee process and was voted on the 
Assembly Floor on May 9, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 47-15. Ordered to the 
Senate – this bill has been referred to Senate Committees on Transportation and Judiciary and is 
scheduled to be heard in Senate Transportation on June 14, 2022.



4

Position: Support

AB 2563 (Quirk) - Air pollution: permits: mobile fueling on-demand tank vehicles.
CapitolTrack Summary: Current law requires air pollution control and air quality management 
districts, except county districts with a population of less than 250,000, to establish, by 
regulation, a program to provide for the expedited review of permits. A person who violates 
these requirements, or any rules, regulation, permit, or order of a district is guilty of a 
misdemeanor. This bill would, except as provided, require air pollution control and air quality 
management districts to establish a mobile fueling on-demand tank vehicle permit program for 
mobile fueling on-demand tank vehicle operations, as defined. The bill would require that a 
mobile fueling on-demand tank vehicle permit program provide, among other things, a consistent 
permitting process for an operation that requires more than one permit and an expedited permit 
review and fee schedule.

Current Status: Dead – Last location was the Assembly Appropriations Suspense File.

Position: Oppose

AB 2816 (Ting) - State Air Resources Board: zero-emission incentive programs: requirements.
CapitolTrack Summary: Would require the State Air Resources Board to develop a tool to 
determine the annual average gallons of gasoline or diesel consumed by a particular vehicle and 
would require the state board to make the tool publicly available on its internet website for use 
by potential applicants of a ZEV incentive program. To maximize equity benefits, the bill would 
require the state board to ensure that additional per gallon incentive payments are provided to an 
applicant of a ZEV incentive program if the applicant is low or moderate income. The bill would 
require the state board to submit a report to the Legislature on or before January 1, 2024, and 
every 2 years thereafter, regarding the ZEV incentive programs.

Current Status: Dead – Last location was the Assembly Appropriations Suspense File.

Position: Oppose unless amended

AB 2852 (Bloom) - Air pollution control districts and air quality management districts: 
independent special districts: funding.
CapitolTrack Summary: Current law provides for the establishment of air pollution control 
districts and air quality management districts. Current law declares a district a body corporate 
and politic and a public agency of the state, and prescribes the general powers and duties of a 
district. Current law authorizes a district to receive funding from specified sources, including, but 
not limited to, grants, permit fees, and penalties. This bill would designate, retroactive to January 
1, 2020, a district as an independent special district for purposes of receiving state funds or funds 
disbursed by the state, including federal funds.

Current Status: Dead – Last location was the Assembly Local Government Committee.

Position: Support



5

AB 2910 (Santiago) - Nonvehicular air pollution: civil penalties.
CapitolTrack Summary: Current law generally designates air pollution control and air quality 
management districts with the primary responsibility for the control of air pollution from all 
sources other than vehicular sources. Current law establishes maximum civil penalties for any 
person for violations of air pollution laws from nonvehicular sources. A person who violates 
these laws and who acts negligently is liable for a civil penalty in a greater amount, as specified. 
Current law annually adjusts the maximum penalties for violations of these laws based on the 
California Consumer Price Index. This bill would increase the maximum amount of those civil 
penalties and would subject those maximum amounts to the annual adjustment based on the 
California Consumer Price Index, as specified.

Current Status: Made its way through the Assembly committee process and was voted on the 
Assembly Floor on May 26, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 52:17. Ordered to the 
Senate – this bill is currently pending approval.

Position: Support

SB 1235 (Borgeas) - Air pollution: portable equipment: emergency events.
CapitolTrack Summary: Would codify the State Air Resources Board’s regulation authorizing 
portable equipment to be operated during an emergency event, as defined above, and would also 
authorize portable equipment to be operated during a public safety power shut-off event. The bill 
would define "public safety power shut-off event," in part, as a planned power outage undertaken 
by an electrical corporation to reduce the risk of wildfires caused by utility equipment.

Current Status: Dead – Last location was the Senate Environmental Quality Committee.

Position: Oppose

SB 1382 (Gonzalez) - Air pollution: Clean Cars 4 All Program: Sales and Use Tax Law: zero 
emissions vehicle exemption.
CapitolTrack Summary: Current law establishes the Clean Cars 4 All Program, which is 
administered by the State Air Resources Board, to focus on achieving reductions in the emissions 
of greenhouse gases, improvements in air quality, and benefits to low-income state residents 
through the replacement of high-polluter motor vehicles with cleaner and more efficient motor 
vehicles or a mobility option. Current law requires the implementing regulations to ensure, 
among other things, that there is improved coordination, integration, and partnerships with other 
specified programs that target disadvantaged communities. This bill would require the 
implementing regulations for the Clean Cars 4 All Program to additionally ensure that the state 
board coordinates with air quality management districts and local nonprofit and community 
organizations to identify barriers to accessing the Clean Cars 4 All Program and to develop 
outreach protocols and metrics to assess the success of outreach across the districts.

Current Status: Made its way through the Senate committee process and was voted on the Senate 
Floor on May 26, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 33:5. Ordered to the Assembly – this 
bill is currently pending referral.



6

Position: Support

SB 1393 (Archuleta) - Energy: appliances: local requirements.
CapitolTrack Summary: Current law requires the State Energy Resources Conservation and 
Development Commission to gather or develop, and publish on its internet website, guidance and 
best practices to help building owners, the construction industry, and local governments 
overcome barriers to electrification of buildings and installation of electric vehicle charging 
equipment that include one or more specified topics. This bill would require the commission to 
gather or develop, and publish on its internet website, the guidance and best practices by July 1, 
2023, and would require the guidance to include all of those specified topics and additional 
topics. The bill would require the commission to update annually the guidance and best practices. 
The bill would require a city, including a charter city, or county, when adopting an ordinance 
requiring the replacement of a fossil fuel-fired appliance with an electric appliance upon the 
alteration or retrofit of a residential and nonresidential building, to consider the guidance 
published by the commission.

Current Status: Made its way through the Senate committee process and was voted on the Senate 
Floor on May 26, 2022, where it received a vote in favor of 21:3. Ordered to the Assembly – this 
bill is currently pending referral.

Position: Oppose 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Alan Abbs
Reviewed by: Sharon L. Landers

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Bills of Interest Matrix - As of June 2, 2022









AGENDA:     12. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Report of the Stationary Source and Climate Impacts Committee Meeting of June 13, 
2022

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None; receive and file. 

BACKGROUND

None. 

DISCUSSION

The Stationary Source and Climate Impacts Committee met on Monday, June 13, 2022, and 
approved the minutes of April 18, 2022. This meeting was conducted under procedures 
authorized by Assembly Bill 361. Members of the Committee participated by teleconference.

The Committee then reviewed and discussed the staff presentation Mid-Year Review of the 2022 
Regulatory Agenda. 

The next meeting of this committee will be Monday, July 18, 2022 at 9:00 a.m., via webcast, 
teleconference, or Zoom, pursuant to procedures in accordance with Assembly Bill 361 (Rivas 
2021). This concludes the report of the Stationary Source and Climate Impacts Committee. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None.



2

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Marcy Hiratzka
Reviewed by: Vanessa Johnson

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  Stationary Source and Climate Impacts June 13, 2022 Meeting Memorandums



AGENDA:     5. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson Lynda Hopkins and Members
of the Stationary Source and Climate Impacts Committee 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: June 13, 2022 

Re: Mid-Year Review of the 2022 Regulatory Agenda

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None; receive and file. 

BACKGROUND

At the January 19, 2022, Board of Directors Retreat Meeting, staff presented the following 
Rulemaking Objectives for 2022:

Source Prioritization Framework: Work with the community on developing a framework 
to prioritize future projects.
Permitting Regulations: Begin Phase 2.

o Address Particulate Matter (PM)
o Work with stakeholders to address additional concerns not included in 

amendments approved in Dec. 2023  
Finalize in-process rules:

o Rule 13-5: Hydrogen Plants
o Amendments to Rules 9-4/9-6: Building Appliances

Continue supporting the Richmond-North Richmond-San Pablo Path to Clean Air 
process.
AB 617 Expedited BARCT Implementation Schedule.

o Discuss path forward for amendments to Rule 9-13: Portland Cement 
Manufacturing and Rule 9-14: Petroleum Coke Calcining Operations

o Goal to finalize 1-2 of the following amendment efforts:
Rule 8-5: Storage of Organic Liquids
Rule 8-8: Wastewater Separators
Rule 8-18: Equipment Leaks

Begin white papers on additional sources from the AB 617 West Oakland Action Plan.
Select/begin work on the “cleanup” rule.



2

DISCUSSION

An overview of the status of each of the 2022 Rulemaking Objectives is listed below.

Source Prioritization Framework: Work with the community on developing a framework 
to prioritize future projects

Current Status: On temporary hold. In late 2021, the Community Equity Health and Justice 
Committee directed staff to take the Framework before the Community Advisory Committee 
(CAC). However, the CAC sets its own agendas from a lengthy list of priorities and has not yet 
indicated if this item will be heard this year.

Next Steps: Staff’s current list of priorities is expected to absorb all available resources well into 
2023. If the CAC is not able to engage on the Framework by the end of this year, staff is 
proposing to develop a public engagement strategy as a stopgap, so that the Framework may still 
move forward and aid in the prioritization of projects by the end of 2023.

Permitting Regulations: Begin Phase 2

Current Status: On temporary hold. Further amendments to the permitting rules rely on both a 
methodology to more adequately account for the health impacts of localized exposure to fine 
particulate matter (PM2.5), and further community engagement. A PM2.5 local risk 
methodology is currently under development by the Air District, and staff is actively engaging 
with the Advisory Council on this methodology.  In addition, on February 9, 2022, the Air 
District received a letter from the Golden Gate University School of Law, who was writing on 
behalf of frontline communities to address the matter of how to proceed with discussions on 
further amendments to the permitting regulations and additional environmental justice 
considerations in the permitting process. The letter prioritized a list of actions and requested that 
the Air District focus on the items that could be accomplished in the short term. Since 
amendments to the permitting regulation did not fall into the “near term” category requested by 
the community, staff is temporarily pausing community engagement on specific permitting rule 
amendments while the community advocates’ higher priority items are addressed.

Next Steps: Staff is proposing to move forward with permitting rule amendments when the 
PM2.5 health impacts methodology work is completed and will plan on re-engaging with the 
community on potential amendments at that time.  

Finalize in-process rules

Rule 13-5: Hydrogen Plants

Current Status: Completed. Approved by the Board of Directors at a Public Hearing on May 4, 
2022.



3

Next Steps: Reallocate staff resources.

Rules 9-4/9-6: Building Appliances

Current Status: Moving forward. In May 2022, staff released the Notice of Preparation (NOP) of 
an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) and Initial Study (IS), which included opening a 
comment period and holding a scoping meeting on June 9, 2022, to receive comments on these 
documents. Timing for release of the final rule package is estimated for Q4 2022 but is 
dependent on the scope of the EIR and subsequent comments received.

Next Steps: Staff will provide an additional status update to the Committee in October 2022, and 
will continue scoping out the formation of the stakeholder Implementation Working Group.

Continue supporting the Richmond-North Richmond-San Pablo Path to Clean Air process

Current Status: Ongoing. Staff continues to support the Path to Clean Air process.

Next Steps: Staff will continue to support this process throughout the strategic development stage 
and into implementation as needed.

AB 617 Expedited Best Available Retrofit Control Technology (BARCT) Implementation 
Schedule

Rule 9-13: Portland Cement Manufacturing

Current Status: Regulatory amendments on hold. The cement kiln at the Lehigh Cupertino 
facility has not been in operation since March 2020 and there are currently no confirmed plans 
for restart. Active rule development is currently on hold, pending data gathering efforts, 
including determining the impact of the Consent Decree.

Next Steps: Because of the uncertainty surrounding the future of the cement kiln at Lehigh, and 
the uncertainty of further potential emissions reductions that could be achieved, staff does not 
believe it is currently an efficient use of resources to develop amendments to Rule 9-13. 
Therefore, staff recommends removing this rule development effort from the BARCT Schedule. 
Should cement kiln operations restart in the future, staff will evaluate the effectiveness of the 
Consent Decree in reducing PM emissions and will determine if additional rulemaking is needed 
to ensure adequate control of this pollutant.

Rule 9-14: Petroleum Coke Calcining Operations

Current Status: Regulatory amendments on hold. As discussed with the Committee on March 21, 
2022, Phillips 66 is proposing to transition from producing petroleum products to alternative 
fuels.



4

Next Steps: Given that the transition would result in a shutdown of the coke calcining kiln and 
surrender of permits, staff recommends not moving forward with potential amendments to Rule 
9-14 at this time. Staff recommends removing this rule development effort from the BARCT 
Schedule and will continue to track the Phillips 66 transition. Staff will re-evaluate if any 
substantial new developments arise.

Rule 8-5: Storage of Organic Liquids

Current Status: Regulatory amendments on hold. Since the adoption of the BARCT Schedule, 
staff has conducted further analyses and research to evaluate potential amendments to Rule 8-5, 
including developing more recent and refined information on volatile organic compound (VOC) 
emissions and potential controls. The best available information currently indicates that at the 
five Bay Area petroleum refineries, the population of potentially affected tanks includes 83 
organic liquid storage tanks that emit a total of approximately 300 tons of VOCs per year. This 
total emissions estimate is substantially lower than the previous emissions estimate of 840 tons 
of VOCs per year. This change is a result of a number of factors, including corrections and 
updates to source information, control/abatement information, and emission calculation 
methodologies. Based on this updated information and further research, BARCT rulemaking to 
control VOCs from tanks may have limited potential to effectively achieve substantial VOC 
emission reductions.

Although VOC emissions are lower than previously estimated, toxic emissions from select tank 
sources may still present substantial exposure risks to nearby communities. Toxic emissions and 
potential community exposures from tank sources remain a concern but are potentially better 
addressed through implementation of Regulation 11, Rule 18 (Rule 11-18): Reduction of Risk 
from Air Toxic Emissions at Existing Facilities. While amendments to Rule 8-5 would focus on 
controls to reduce VOC emissions, Rule 11-18 is a health risk-based rule that specifically 
addresses toxic emissions and community exposures. Pursing reductions in toxic emissions 
through Rule 8-5 would be duplicative to Rule 11-18 and would also put further strain on the 
staff implementing Rule 11-18, as their toxics expertise would be needed in the development of 
these amendments.

Next Steps: Due to the limited potential of VOC reductions and the duplication of pursing toxic 
reductions under Rule 8-5, staff recommends removing this rule from the BARCT Schedule.

Rule 8-8: Wastewater Separators

Current Status: Earlier this year, the Air District began stakeholder engagement with potentially 
affected facilities to ensure that the best available source information and emission estimates can 
be considered in the rule development process. Staff submitted a data request to the refineries on 
April 22, 2022, and gave it until May 31, 2022, for the completion of the data request.

Next Steps: It is anticipated that public engagement on these amendments will begin this 
summer, and staff is tentatively scheduled to give an update to the Committee in Q3 2022.



5

Rule 8-18: Equipment Leaks

Current Status: In April 2022, the Air District published the “Fugitive Emissions from Petroleum 
Refinery Equipment in Heavy Liquid Service” (Heavy Liquids Study), which was a joint study 
between the Air District and the Western States Petroleum Association.

Next Steps: With the finalization of the Heavy Liquids Study, staff can now begin on applicable 
amendments to Rule 8-18. Staff expects to give an update to the Committee in Q4 2022.

Begin white papers on additional sources from the AB 617 West Oakland Action Plan 
(WOCAP)

WOCAP Further Study Measure #3: The Air District will investigate potential rulemaking to 
limit fugitive dust from construction activity

Current Status: Staff is currently investigating ways to further reduce emissions and public 
exposure from particulate matter sources, such as construction sites and concrete batch plants. A 
white paper is currently under development which will identify potential measures to update the 
Air District’s rules and regulations to be more health protective.

Next Steps: Staff expects to complete the white paper this summer.

Select/begin work on “cleanup” rule

Amendments to Rule 11-18

Current Status: At the Stationary Source and Climate Impacts Committee on February 28, 2022, 
staff gave a presentation on the implementation status of Regulation 11, Rule 18 (Rule 11-18): 
Reduction of Risk from Air Toxic Emissions at Existing Facilities. At the meeting, the 
Committee and staff discussed potential strategies to accelerate implementation of Rule 11-18, 
and the consensus of the Committee members present was to recommend that Air District staff 
recommend to the Board that additional staff be hired to shorten the estimated time of 
completion of Health Risk Analyses. In addition, the Committee recommended that staff bring 
back a discussion on how potential Rule 11-18 amendments fit within staff’s current rulemaking 
priorities.

After reviewing current priorities, staff recommends moving forward with potential amendments 
to Rule 11-18 as a “cleanup” rule. Staff is proposing limiting the scope of the amendments to 
opportunities for reducing implementation timelines.

Next Steps: Staff will begin working on potential amendments and will bring an update to the 
Committee in the first half of 2023.



6

New Projects

As current projects are completed and staffing resources become available, staff will transition 
their time to work on the projects below.

Engagement with the East Oakland AB 617 Steering Committee: With the approval of East 
Oakland as the Bay Area’s third AB 617 community, and the imminent development of their 
Steering Committee, staff is proposing to devote resources to supporting their strategic 
development needs.

Additional White Papers: Staff will be looking at the WOCAP and will be developing white 
papers based on these measures. The list of measures for analysis include reducing emissions 
from metal recycling and foundries, autobody operations, wastewater treatment plants and 
anaerobic digestion facilities, commercial cooking, and woodburning. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Elizabeth Yura
Reviewed by: Greg Nudd

ATTACHMENTS:

1. 2022 Rulemaking Objectives - June update



AGENDA:     13. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Report of the Administration Committee Meeting of June 15, 2022

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None.  

BACKGROUND

None. 

DISCUSSION

The Administration Committee met on Wednesday, June 15, 2022, and approved the minutes of 
April 20, 2022. This meeting was conducted under procedures authorized by Assembly Bill 361 
(Rivas 2021), allowing remote meetings. Members of the Committee participated both by 
teleconference (via Zoom) and in person.

The Committee then received and discussed the presentation Bay Area Air Quality Management 
District Risk Assessment, given by George Skiles from Sjoberg Evashenk, the contractor hired by 
the Air District to conduct the audit. Although this was not an action item, the consensus of the 
Committee members present was to recommend the Board direct staff to execute Task Order #3 
(organizational assessment and staffing recommendation.)

The Committee then received the presentation Bay Area Regional Collaborative Shared Work 
Plan, given by Allison Brooks, Executive Director of the Bay Area Regional Collaborative.

The next meeting of the Administration Committee will be on Wednesday, July 20, 2022, at 
11:00 a.m., in person or via webcast, teleconference, or Zoom, pursuant to procedures in 
accordance with Assembly Bill 361 (Rivas 2021). This concludes the Chair Report of the 
Administration Committee.



2

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Marcy Hiratzka
Reviewed by: Vanessa Johnson

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  Administration Committee June 15, 2022 Meeting Memorandums



AGENDA:     5. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Administration Committee 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Management Audit District Wide Risk Assessment Presentation

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None; receive and file. 

BACKGROUND

On December 15, 2021, the Air District Board reviewed the scores for bids for management 
audit services and authorized the execution of a contract with the highest scoring vendor, Sjoberg 
Evashenk, for independent management audit services in an amount not to exceed $250,000.

The initial task order under the contract called for a first deliverable in March 2022 to inform 
new Fiscal Year Ending (FYE) 2022 staffing authorization, and a second deliverable in May 
2022 which will provide information regarding Air District-wide risk and rank the Air District’s 
divisions for further audit priority.

Sjoberg Evashenk presented the FYE 2022 staffing authorization review to the Air District 
Board on April 6, 2022. The Auditor presented the conclusion that (a) the allocation of additional 
positions in the FYE 2022 budget is reasonable and consistent with their independent analysis; 
(b) internal control weaknesses led to the filling of 10 of 26 of the positions as of the end of 
February 2022; and, (c) despite these weaknesses, it is evident that the need for the remaining 16 
positions is supported by current workload demands and Air District priorities.

During the April 6, 2022 Board meeting, the Board directed staff to execute a second Task Order 
under the management audit services contract with Sjoberg Evashenk that would require the 
immediate commencement of a performance audit of human resources management functions at
the Air District.  The human resources audit is underway and will be concluded in October 2022.



2

DISCUSSION

During today’s committee meeting, the management auditor will present an overview of the 
District-wide Risk Assessment deliverable required under Task Order 1 and provide 
recommendations for additional work based on that deliverable. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: John Chiladakis
Reviewed by: Sharon L. Landers and George Skiles (Sjoberg Evashenk)

ATTACHMENTS:

1. 2022 BAAQMD Management Audit District Wide Risk Assessment Presentation



AGENDA:     6. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Administration Committee 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: June 15, 2022 

Re: Bay Area Regional Collaborative (BARC) Update

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None; receive and file. 

BACKGROUND

The Bay Area Regional Collaborative (BARC) consists of Board/Commission representatives of 
the four regional agencies and provides a forum for discussing issues of regional importance. 

DISCUSSION

At the upcoming Administration Committee meeting, BARC Executive Director, Allison 
Brooks, will present the BARC Shared Work Plan.   

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Michelle Beteta
Reviewed by: Vanessa Johnson



2

ATTACHMENTS:

1. BARC Shared Work Plan Presentation



AGENDA:     14. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Management Audit Report on Priority Recruitments

RECOMMENDED ACTION

None; receive and file. 

BACKGROUND

On December 15, 2021, the Air District Board reviewed the scores for bids for management 
audit services and authorized the execution of a contract with the highest scoring vendor, Sjoberg 
Evashenk, for independent management audit services in an amount not to exceed $250,000.

The initial task order under the contract called for a first deliverable in March 2022 to inform 
new Fiscal Year Ending (FYE) 2022 staffing authorization, and a second deliverable in May 
2022 which will provide information regarding Air District-wide risk and rank the Air District’s 
divisions for further audit priority.
 
Sjoberg Evashenk presented the FYE 2022 staffing authorization review to the Air District 
Board on April 6, 2022.  The Auditor presented the conclusion that (a) the allocation of 
additional positions in the FYE 2022 budget is reasonable and consistent with their independent 
analysis; (b) internal control weaknesses led to the filling of 10 of 26 of the positions as of the 
end of February 2022; and, (c) despite these weaknesses, it is evident that the need for the 
remaining 16 positions is supported by current workload demands and Air District priorities.

During the April 6, 2022 Board meeting, the Board directed staff to execute a second Task Order 
under the management audit services contract with Sjoberg Evashenk that would require the 
immediate commencement of a performance audit of human resources management functions at 
the Air District.  The human resources audit is underway and will be concluded in October 2022.



2

During the June 15, 2022 Administrative Committee meeting, the Committee directed staff to 
execute a third Task Order to provide specific recommendations on which unfilled positions 
should be filled as a priority, and to provide recommendations regarding the agency’s 
organizational structure, the alignment of resources to meet organizational needs, and the 
allocation of unfilled positions. 

DISCUSSION

During today’s Board meeting, the management auditor will present the first deliverable under 
Task Order 3 which are recommendations on which unfilled positions should be recruited 
immediately. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

During today’s Board meeting, the management auditor will present the first deliverable under 
Task Order 3, which are recommendations on which unfilled positions should be recruited 
immediately. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: John Chiladakis
Reviewed by: Sharon Landers, George Skiles 

ATTACHMENTS:

None



AGENDA:     15. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Current Legislation on Potential Amendments to the Brown Act

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Recommend the Board of Directors (Board) discuss and vote on taking a position on AB 2449 
(Rubio) – Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences 

BACKGROUND

AB 2449 (Rubio) - Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.
CapitolTrack Summary: The Ralph M. Brown Act, requires, with specified exceptions, that all 
meetings of a legislative body of a local agency, as those terms are defined, be open and public 
and that all persons be permitted to attend and participate. Current law, until January 1, 2024, 
authorizes a local agency to use teleconferencing without complying with specified 
teleconferencing requirements in specified circumstances when a declared state of emergency is 
in effect, or in other situations related to public health. This bill would revise and recast those 
teleconferencing provisions and, until January 1, 2026, would authorize a local agency to use 
teleconferencing without complying with the teleconferencing requirements that each 
teleconference location be identified in the notice and agenda and that each teleconference 
location be accessible to the public if at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body 
participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda that is 
open to the public and situated within the local agency’s jurisdiction. Under this exception, the 
bill would authorize a member to participate remotely under specified circumstances, including 
participating remotely for just cause or due to emergency circumstances. The emergency 
circumstances basis for remote participation would be contingent on a request to, and action by, 
the legislative body. The bill would define terms for purposes of these teleconferencing 
provisions. 

DISCUSSION

At the March 2, 2022, Board of Directors meeting, Boardmembers heard a staff presentation 
regarding two Assembly bills, AB 1944 (Lee) and AB 2449 (Rubio) that proposed future 
amendments to the Ralph M. Brown Open Meetings Act, related to remote participation. After 



2

discussion, the Board voted to take a position of support for AB 1944, which provided a more 
permissive environment for allowing remote teleconferencing by Boardmembers, including 
teleconferencing from non-public locations. Over the course of the session, both bills were 
subsequently amended to become more restrictive on use of remote teleconferencing, with AB 
2449 continuing to be the more restrictive of the two.
 
AB 2449 was further amended on June 23rd, becoming even more restrictive regarding remote 
teleconferencing, and Assemblymember Lee, the author of AB 1944, decided not to further move 
his bill. By the date of this scheduled Board meeting, AB 2449 will have been heard in its final 
policy committee, Senate Judiciary, and if passed, will be referred to Senate Appropriations prior 
to the Senate Floor.
 
The latest version of AB 2449 provides for remote teleconferencing as we have been doing, until 
January 1, 2024, if there is a continued state of emergency, and a requirement for social 
distancing. If either of those requirements are not met, then remote teleconferencing is limited to 
the following:

Teleconference locations must be publicly noticed and available to the public to attend. In 
this case, remote teleconferencing from non-public locations is not allowed.
Remote teleconferencing from non-public locations will be allowed if a quorum of the 
legislative body is physically present in a single location, and

A member requests to remotely teleconference for “just cause” and the request is 
approved by the Board, limited to 2 times per year.
A member requests to remotely teleconference due to an emergency, subject to 
approval by the Board.
Remote teleconferencing from non-public locations can be no more than 3 
consecutive months, and no more than 20% of the annual meetings. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

None. 

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Alan Abbs
Reviewed by: Sharon L. Landers



3

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  AB 2449 (Rubio) - Bill Text - As Amended on June 23, 2022
2.  AB 2449 (Rubio) - Senate Judiciary Committee Analysis - June 28, 2022







  

    

  

  

  

  

  

  



    

  

  

    

  



  

    

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

    

  

  



  

  

  
  

  

  

    

  

  
  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  
  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

    

  

  

  

  
  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



    

  

  

  

  

  

  

    

  



  

    

  

  



    

  

  
  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  
  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

    

  



  

  

  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



  

  

  

  

    

  

  



  

    

  

  

    

  



  

  





 

SENATE JUDICIARY COMMITTEE
Senator Thomas Umberg, Chair 

2021-2022  Regular  Session 
 
 
AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio) 
Version: June 23, 2022 
Hearing Date:  June 28, 2022 
Fiscal: Yes 
Urgency: No 
AM  
 

SUBJECT 
 

Open meetings:  local agencies:  teleconferences 
 

DIGEST 
 

This bill authorizes, until January 1, 2026, members of a legislative body of a local 
agency to meet via teleconferencing without noticing their teleconference locations and 
making them publicly accessible under certain conditions. 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Ralph M. Brown Act (the Brown Act) protects public access to meetings of the 
legislative bodies of local agencies and prescribes specific requirements local agencies 
must follow if they want to hold a meeting via teleconferencing. Under existing law, a 
local agency is authorized, until January 1, 2024, to use teleconferencing without 
complying with those specific teleconferencing requirements when a declared state of 
emergency is in effect or in other situations related to public health, if certain conditions 
are met. This bill revises existing law to instead allows, until January 1, 2026, a local 
agency to use teleconferencing without complying with the requirement that each 
teleconference location be identified in the notice and agenda and that each 
teleconference location be accessible to the public under specified circumstances and 
only if at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body participates in person 
from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda that is open to the 

time a member can participate remotely, and prescribes requirements for this exception 
regarding notice, agendas, access for the public, and procedures for disruptions. The bill 
also requires a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for reasonable 
accommodation for individuals with disabilities, consistent with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990, to be implemented. 
 
The sponsor of the bill is Three Valleys Municipal Water District. The bill is supported 
by numerous public agencies and business organizations. The bill is opposed by various 
organizations, including organizations that advocate for open and accessible 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 2 of 18
 

 

government and associations representing local governments. The bill passed the 
Senate Governance and Finance Committee on a vote of 5 to 0.    
 

PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE LAW 
 
Existing law: 
 
1) Affirms that the people have the right of access to information concerning the 

the writings of public officials and agencies shall be open to public scrutiny. (Cal. 
Const., art. I, § 3(b)(1).) 

a) Requires a statute that 
with findings demonstrating the interest protected by the limitation and 
the need for protecting that interest. (Cal. const. art. I, § 3(b)(1).)  

 
2) Establishes the Brown Act, which secures public access to the meetings of public 

commissions, boards, councils, and agencies in the state. (Gov. Code, tit. 5, div. 2, pt. 
1, ch. 9, §§ 54950 et seq.) The Brown Act defines the following relevant terms: 

a)  a county, city, whether general law or chartered, city and 
county, town, school district, municipal corporation, district, political 
subdivision, or any board, commission, or agency thereof, or any other local 
public agency. (Gov. Code, § 54951.) 

b) 
local body created by state or federal statute; a commission, committee, 
board, or other body of a local agency, as specified; a board, commission, or 
other multimember body that governs a private corporation, limited liability 
company, or other entity that is either created by an elected legislative body 
to exercise delegated authority or receives funds from a local agency and 
includes a member of the legislative body of the local agency; or the lessee of 
any hospital leased pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 21131, where 
the lessee exercises any material authority delegated by the legislative body. 
(Gov. Code, § 54952.) 

 
3) Requires all meetings of the legislative body of a local agency to be open and public, 

and all persons shall be permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a 
local agency, except as otherwise provided in the Brown Act. (Gov. Code, § 54953.) 

 
4) Authorizes the legislative body of a local agency to use teleconferencing for the 

benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with 
any meeting or proceeding authorized by law, provided that the teleconferenced 
meeting complies with all of the following conditions and all otherwise applicable 
laws: 

a) Teleconferencing, as authorized, may be used for all purposes in connection 
with any meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 3 of 18
 

 

body. All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall. 
(Gov. Code, § 54953(b)(2).) 

b) If the legislative body elects to use teleconferencing, it must post agendas at 
all teleconference locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner 
that protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or in the 
public appearing before the legislative body of the local agency. (Gov. Code, 
§ 54953(b)(3).) 

c) Each teleconferencing location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of 
the meeting or proceeding, and each teleconference location shall be 
accessible to the public. (Gov. Code, § 54953(b)(3).) 

d) During the teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative 
body shall participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory 
over which the local agency exercised jurisdiction, except as provided in 6). 
(Gov. Code, § 54953(b)(3).) 

e) The agenda shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to 
address the legislative body directly, as the Brown Act requires for in-person 
meetings, at each teleconference location. (Gov. Code, § 54953(b)(3).) 

f) 
legislative body, the members of which are in different locations, connected 
by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both. (Gov. Code, 
§ 54953(b)(4).) 

 
5) Provides an exception to the teleconferencing quorum requirements in 4) as follows: 

a) If a health authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are 
outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be counted toward the 
establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 
50 percent of the number of members that would establish a quorum are 
present within the boundaries of the territory over which the authority 
exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference 
number, and associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in 
to participate in the meeting and the number and access codes are identified 
in the notice and agenda of the meeting. 

b) This exception may not be construed as discouraging health authority 
members from regularly meeting at a common physical site within the 
jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference locations within or 
near the jurisdiction of the authority. (Gov. Code, § 54953(d).) 

 
6) Authorizes a local agency to use teleconferencing for a public meeting without 

agenda requirements described in 4), in any of the following circumstances: 
a) the legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 

emergency, and state or local officials have imposed or recommended 
measures to promote social distancing; 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 4 of 18
 

 

b) the legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 
emergency for purposes of determining, by majority vote, whether as a 
result of the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks 
to the health and safety of attendees; and 

c) the legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 
emergency and has determined by majority vote pursuant to b) above 
that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present 
imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees. 

 
7) 

Government Code section 8625. 
 
8) Provides that a legislative body holding a teleconferenced meeting pursuant to the 

Brown Act exception provided in 6) is subject to the requirements in a) through g). 
a) The legislative body must give notice of the meeting and post agendas as 

otherwise required by the Brown Act. 
b) The legislative body must allow members of the public to access the meeting, 

and the agenda must provide an opportunity for members of the public to 
address the legislative body directly pursuant to Brown Act requirements. In 
each instance where notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is 
otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the 
legislative body must also give notice of the means by which members of the 
public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda must 
identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via call-in option 
or an internet-based service option. The legislative body need not provide a 
physical location from which the public may attend or comment. 

c) The legislative body must conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that 
protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties and the public 
appearing before the legislative body. 

d) In the event of a disruption that prevents the public agency from 
broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in or 
internet-based service options, or in the event of a disruption within the local 

comments using the call-in or internet-based service options, the legislative 
body must take no further action on items appearing on the meeting agenda 
until public access to the meeting is restored. Actions taken on agenda items 
during a disruption preventing the broadcast of the meeting may be 
challenged as provided in the Brown Act. 

e) The legislative body may not require public comments to be submitted in 
advance of the meeting, and it must provide an opportunity for the public to 
address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.  

f) The legislative body may use an online third-party system for individuals to 
provide public comment that requires an individual to register with the 
system prior to providing comment. 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 5 of 18
 

 

g) If a legislative body provides a timed public comment period, it may not close 
the comment period or the time to register to provide comment under f) until 
the timed period has elapsed. If the legislative body does not provide a time-
limited comment period, it must allow a reasonable time for the public to 
comment on each agenda item and to register as necessary under f). 

9) If the state of emergency remains active, or state or local officials have imposed 
measures to promote social distancing, the legislative body must, in order to 
continue meeting subject to this exemption to the Brown Act, no later than 30 days 
after it commences using the exemption, and every 30 days thereafter, make the 
following findings by majority vote: 

a) the legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of 
emergency; and 

b) either (1) the state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the 
members to meet safely in person; or (2) state or local officials continue to 
impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing. 

 
10) Provides that the provisions relating to the Brown Act in 6) through 9) above will 

remain in effect only until January 1, 2024, and as of that date be repealed. 
 

11) Authorizes the district attorney or interested person to challenge an action by 
mandamus or injunction for the purpose of obtaining a judicial determination that 
an action taken by a legislative body of a local agency in violation of specified 
provisions of the Brown Act is null and void. (Gov. Code § 54960.1.) 

This bill:  
 
1) Authorizes, until January 1, 2026, members of a legislative body of a local agency to 

use teleconferencing without noticing each teleconference location or making it 
publicly accessible, provided at least a quorum of the members of the body 
participates in person at a singular physical location. 

a) The location of the in-person meeting must be clearly identified on the 
agenda, must be open to the public, and must be within the boundaries of the 

 
 

2) Requires the legislative body, in order to use teleconference under 1) above, to meet 
the following requirements: 

a) provide a two-way audio-visual platform or a two-way telephonic service 
and a live webcasting of the meeting by which the public may remotely hear 
and visually observe the meeting and also remotely address the legislative 
body; 

b) give notice of the means for the public to access the meeting and offer public 
comment in each instance the legislative body notices the meeting or posts 
the agenda;  



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 6 of 18
 

 

c) identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend and address the 
legislative body directly via a call-in or internet-based service option, and at 
the in-person location of the meeting; and 

d) provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and 
offer comment in real time. A third-party internet website or online platform 
not under the control of the legislative body may require members of public 
to login or register to provide public comment. 

 
3) Prohibits a local agency from requiring public comments to be submitted in advance 

of the meeting. 
 

4) Prohibits a local agency from taking further action in the event of a disruption that 
prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting to the public, or in the 

offering public comments remotely, until it can restore public access to the meeting.  
a) The public can challenge actions taken on agenda items during such 

disruptions pursuant to Section 54960.1 of the Government Code. 
 

5) Authorizes a member of a legislative body to participate in a meeting remotely only 
if one of the following circumstances applies: 

a) the member notifies the legislative body at the earliest opportunity possible, 
including at the start of a regular meeting, of their need to participate 
remotely for just cause, including a general description of the circumstances 
relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting; or  

i. The provisions of i) cannot be used by any member of the legislative 
body for more than two meetings per calendar year. 

b) the member requests the legislative body to allow them to participate in the 
meeting remotely due to emergency circumstances and the legislative body 
takes action to approve the request.  

i. The legislative body is required to request a general description of the 
circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given 
meeting. A general description of an item generally need not exceed 20 
words and does not require the member to disclose any medical 
diagnosis or disability, or any personal medical information that is 
already exempt under existing law, such as the Confidentiality of 
Medical Information Act. 

ii. 
participate remotely under b) at the earliest opportunity, including the 
beginning of the meeting at which the member has requested the 
ability to participate remotely.  

iii. The member is required to make such a request at each meeting they 
desire to participate remotely pursuant to b). 

iv. The member is required to participate through both audio and visual 
technology. 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 7 of 18
 

 

6) The provisions of 5) above cannot serve as a means for any member of a legislative 
body to participate in meetings of the legislative body solely by teleconference from 
a remote location for a period of more than three consecutive months or 20 percent 
of the regular meetings for the local agency within a calendar year, or more than two 
meetings if the legislative body regularly meets fewer than 10 times per calendar 
year. 

 
7)  

a) childcare or caregiving need that requires them to participate remotely; 
b) a contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person; 
c) a need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in Sections 12926 

and 12926.1 not otherwise accommodated by 9) below; and  
d) travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or 

local agency. 
 

8) 
prevents a member from attending in person. 
 

9) Requires the legislative body to have and implement a procedure for receiving and 
swiftly resolving requests for reasonable accommodation for individuals with 
disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 
U.S.C. Sec. 12132) (hereafter ADA), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. 
In each instance in which notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the 
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give 
notice of the procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation. 

 
10) Requires the legislative body to conduct meetings subject to the Brown Act 

consistent with applicable state and federal civil rights, language access, and other 
nondiscrimination laws. 

 
11) Defines various terms for these purposes. 

 
12) State that these provisions are necessary to ensure minimum standards for public 

participation and notice requirements allowing for greater public participation in 
teleconference meetings. 

 
13) Repeals these provisions on January 1, 2026. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 8 of 18
 

 

COMMENTS 
 
1. Stated need for the bill  

 
The author writes: 
 

While remote participation in meetings was necessitated by the pandemic, we 
have simultaneously demonstrated the value of remote participation options 
when individuals are unable to attend a physical gathering. The Brown Act 
ensures that officials and their constituents can have open and transparent 
meetings, which we now know can occur using modern technology. Considering 
the experiences of the past two years, AB 2449 would provide an avenue for 
constituents to interact with their representatives in situations where they might 
have not previously been able to. 
 

2. Background 
 

a. Right to access public meetings and COVID-19 pandemic 
 

The California Constitution enshrines the rights of the people to instruct their 
representatives and to access information concerning the conduct of government, and 
requires the meetings of public bodies to be accessible for public scrutiny.1 The Brown 
Act provides guidelines and requirements for how state and local bodies must 
guarantee open and public access to their meetings.2 The legislative intent of the Brown 
Act was expressly declared in its original statute, and has remained unchanged despite 
numerous amendments: 
 

The Legislature finds and declares that the public commissions, boards 
and councils and other public agencies in this State exist to aid in the 

actions be taken openly and that their deliberations be conducted openly.   
 
The people of this State do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies 
which serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their 
public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know 
and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining 
informed so that they may retain control over the instruments they have 
created.3 

 

                                            
1 Cal. Const., art. I, § 3(a) & (b)(1). 
2 Ed. Code, tit. 3, div. 8, pt. 55, ch. 3, art. 1.5, §§ 89305 et seq.; Gov Code, tit. 2, div. 3, art. 9, §§ 11120 et 
seq., & tit. 5, div. 2, pt. 1, ch. 9, §§ 54950 et seq. 
3 Id., § 54950. 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 9 of 18
 

 

The Brown Act generally requires that meetings of the legislative body of a local agency 
be open and accessible to the public, and requires local agencies to provide notice of the 
meeting, its agenda, and its location in advance of a meeting to ensure that the people 
have adequate notice and opportunity to attend. 
 
In March 2020, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Governor issued executive orders 
suspending portions of the Brown Act requiring in-person meetings, thereby allowing 
members of a local legislative body to attend meetings remotely without having to 
publicly post their location information or allow members of the public to attend 
meetings from those locations.4 Throughout the pandemic, many state and local bodies 
relied on teleconference or internet streaming services to conduct meetings on a regular 
basis, avoiding the COVID-19 transmission risks posed by large public gatherings. This 
Committee noted in its analysis of AB 361 as amended September 3, 2021 (Robert Rivas, 
Ch. 165, Stats. 2021) that:  
 

Based on information received by committee staff, the move to entirely 
teleconferenced meetings has both expanded and contracted public access to 
meetings: the increased availability of teleconferencing allows participation by 
persons who cannot travel to a physical location or cannot attend a meeting for other 
reasons (e.g., persons who are immunocompromised); but can decrease participation 
by persons who are less tech-savvy, lack access to technology, or are otherwise 
unable to utilize the remote access options. There are also concerns that the value of 
public meetings is lessened when government officials do not have to interact with 
the public on a face-to-face basis. 

 
b. AB 361 (Robert Rivas, Ch. 165, Stats. 2021) 

AB 361 authorized a local agency to use teleconferencing for a public meeting without 
ce, and agenda 

requirements in any of the following circumstances until January 1, 2024: 

 The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and 
state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social 
distancing. 

 The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for 
purposes of determining, by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, 
meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health and safety of 
attendees. 

 The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency and 
has determined by majority vote as described above that, as a result of the 
emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety 
of attendees. (Gov. Code § 54953 (e)(1).) 

                                            
4 -25- . Order No. N-29-20 (Mar. 17, 
2020). 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 10 of 18
 

 

AB 361 provided that a legislative body holding a teleconferenced meeting pursuant to 
this exception is subject to the following requirements: 

 The legislative body must give notice of the meeting and post agendas as otherwise 
required by the Brown Act. 

 The legislative body must allow members of the public to access the meeting, and 
the agenda must provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the 
legislative body directly pursuant to Brown Act requirements. In each instance 
where notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the 
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body must also give 
notice of the means by which members of the public may access the meeting and 
offer public comment. The agenda must identify and include an opportunity for all 
persons to attend via call-in option or an internet-based service option. The 
legislative body need not provide a physical location from which the public may 
attend or comment. 

 The legislative body must conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that 
protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties and the public 
appearing before the legislative body. 

 In the event of a disruption that prevents the public agency from broadcasting the 
meeting to members of the public using the call-in or internet-based service 

prevents members of the public from offering public comments using the call-in or 
internet-based service options, the legislative body must take no further action on 
items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting is 
restored. Actions taken on agenda items during a disruption preventing the 
broadcast of the meeting may be challenged as provided in the Brown Act. 

 The legislative body may not require public comments to be submitted in advance 
of the meeting, and it must provide an opportunity for the public to address the 
legislative body and offer comment in real time.  

 The legislative body may use an online third-party system for individuals to 
provide public comment that requires an individual to register with the system 
prior to providing comment. 

 If a legislative body provides a timed public comment period, it may not close the 
comment period or the time to register to provide comment until the timed period 
has elapsed. If the legislative body does not provide a time-limited comment 
period, it must allow a reasonable time for the public to comment on each agenda 
item and to register as necessary. (Gov. Code § 54953 (e)(2).) 

AB 361 also provided that if the state of emergency remains active, or state or local 
officials have imposed measures to promote social distancing, the legislative body must, 
in order to continue meeting subject to this exemption to the Brown Act, no later than 
30 days after it commences using the exemption, and every 30 days thereafter, make the 
following findings by majority vote: 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 11 of 18
 

 

 the legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of 
emergency; and 

 either (1) the state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the 
members to meet safely in person; or (2) state or local officials continue to 
impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing. (Gov. Code § 
54953 (e)(3).) 

 
3. This bill revises existing law to authorize members of a legislative body of a local 

agency to meet via teleconferencing without noticing their teleconference locations 
and making them publicly accessible under certain conditions until January 1, 2026. 

 
This bill allows, until January 1, 2026, members of a legislative body of a local agency to 
use teleconferencing without noticing each teleconference location or making it publicly 
accessible, provided at least a quorum of the members of the body participates in 
person at a singular physical location. The agency must clearly identify the location of 
the in-person meeting on the agenda, which must be open to the public and within the 

 

In order to meet via teleconference under these provisions, the legislative body must 
meet the following requirements. These requirements are guardrails to ensure that 
public participation and access are still afforded to the public. The requirements are: 

 Provide a two-way audio-visual platform or a two-way telephonic service and a 
live webcasting of the meeting by which the public may remotely hear and 
visually observe the meeting and also remotely address the legislative body. 

 Give notice of the means for the public to access the meeting and offer public 
comment in each instance the legislative body notices the meeting or posts the 
agenda. 

 Identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend and address the 
legislative body directly via a call-in or internet-based service option, and at the 
in-person location of the meeting. 

 Not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting.  
 Provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer 

comment in real time; however, a third-party internet website or online platform 
not under the control of the legislative body may require members of public to 
login or register to provide public comment. 

 Not take further action in the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative 
body from broadcasting the meeting to the public, or in the event of a disruption 

comments remotely, until it can restore public access to the meeting.  
 The public can challenge actions taken on agenda items during such disruptions 

pursuant to existing provisions of law that authorizes a person to commence an 
action by mandamus or injunction for the purpose of obtaining a judicial 
determination that an action taken by a legislative body of a local agency in 
violation of specified provisions of law is null and void. 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 12 of 18
 

 

Amendments taken in the Senate Governance and Finance Committee limited the 
circumstances under the bill for which a member of the legislative body may participate 
remotely. These reasons are for a 
Just cause is defined as any of the following: 

 childcare or caregiving need that requires them to participate remotely; 
 a contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person; 
 a need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in Sections 12926 

and 12926.1 of the Government Code not otherwise accommodated under the 
ADA; or 

 travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or 
local agency. 
 

An emergency circumstance is a physical or family medical emergency that prevents a 
member from attending in person. In order to ensure that a member is participating 
remotely for a needed or justified reason as opposed to convenience, the Senate 
Governance and Finance Committee amendments limit the use of  
twice in a calendar year. Additionally, a member cannot participate in meetings solely 
by teleconference from a remote location for a period of more than three consecutive 
months or 20 percent of the regular meetings for the local agency within a calendar 
year, or more than two meetings if the legislative body regularly meets fewer than 10 
times per calendar year. 
 
The bill requires that the agenda identifies that the member of the legislative body will 
participate in the meeting remotely and provides a brief general description of the 
circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting. A brief 
general description of an item generally needs not to exceed 20 words. In the 
alternative, if t
arose after the agency posted the agenda for the meeting, those circumstances must be 
publicly disclosed at the meeting before any action is taken. These requirements, 
however, do not require a member to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or 
any personal medical information that is already exempt under existing law. 
 
The member participating remotely must publicly disclose at the meeting before any 
action is taken whether any other individuals 18 years of age or older are present in the 

relationship with any such individuals. The member must participate through both 
audio and visual technology.  AB 2449 also requires legislative bodies to adopt and 
implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for reasonable 
accommodations for individuals with disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans 
with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of 
accessibility. In each instance in which notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise 
given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also 
give notice of the procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation.  
Lastly, the bill requires a legislative body to conduct meetings subject to the Brown Act 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 13 of 18
 

 

consistent with applicable state and federal civil rights, language access, and other 
nondiscrimination laws.  
 
4. Opposition 
 
There are several groups opposed to the bill unless amended to address their concerns. 
These groups generally have two very different issues with the bill. 
 

a. Concerns with subdivision (h)  requirement that a legislative body conduct meetings 
subject to the Brown Act consistent with applicable state and federal civil rights, language 
access, and other nondiscrimination laws 

 
The League of California Cities, Urban Counties of California, Association of California 
School Administrators, Association of California Healthcare Districts, Rural County 
Representatives of California, and City Clerks Association of California write in 
opposition to the language in the bill in subdivision (h) that requires a legislative body 
to conduct meetings subject to the Brown Act consistent with applicable state and 
federal civil rights, language access, and other nondiscrimination laws. Specifically, 
they state that 
meetings, and this reference is 
They further state 
continue to participate in public meetings remotely, we are concerned that the 
provisions of subdivision (h) along with other requirements of the bill undermine the 
overall utility of the measure. [They] suggest that perhaps a more comprehensive 
conversation about the future of remote participation in local public meetings is 
necessary before moving forward with this measure. Santa Barbara County Board of 
Supervisors echoes these concerns.  

Under the Brown Act there are specific requirements related to translation for non-
when the 

legislative body of a local agency limits time for public comment, the legislative body of 
a local agency shall provide at least twice the allotted time to a member of the public 
who utilizes a translator to ensure that non-English speakers receive the same 

Id. (b)(2)). It 
further says that the prior requirement 
agency utilizes simultaneous translation equipment in a manner that allows the 
legislative body of a local agency to hear the translated public testimony 
simultan Id. (b)(3).) Furthermore, the Dymally-Alatorre Bilingual Services Act 
(Act) places requirements on local public agencies that serve a substantial number of 
non-English-speaking people to employ a sufficient number of qualified bilingual 
persons in public contact positions or as interpreters to assist those in such positions, to 
ensure provision of information and services in the language of the non-English-
speaking person, as provided. (Gov. Code § 7290 et. seq., § 7293.) This Act specifically 
cross-references the definition of public agency in the Brown Act. (Gov. Code § 7293, 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 14 of 18
 

 

cross-referencing Gov. Code § 54951.) This Act states that its provisions do not apply to 
school districts, county boards of education, or the office of a county superintendent of 
schools. (Gov. Code § 7298.) 

According to the author, the language in subdivision (h) is meant to be a restatement of 
existing law not to place new requirements on local agencies conducting meetings 
under the Brown Act. The way the language is currently drafted it could be susceptible 
to being interpreted as placing new requirements on local agencies. It also specifically 
states it applies to any meeting conducted under the Brown Act, not just meetings 
conducted pursuant to the teleconference provisions in the bill. The author may wish to 
clarify this language to ensure that it is clear it is not placing any new requirements on 
local agencies that they currently do not have to comply with when conducting 
meetings under the Brown Act.  
 

b. Concerns that the bill fundamentally alters the Brown Act for the benefit of members of 
legislative bodies as opposed to ensuring greater access for the public  
 

The ACLU, Californians Aware, First Amendment Coalition, and Leadership Council 

express authorization to members of legislative bodies to teleconference into public 
meetings from private locations not identified or accessible to the public at any time, 

: 

We are also very glad to see that a quorum must be in the same physical location 
with the public in this bill, but it is essential to narrow the circumstances in 
which members outside of the quorum can participate remotely, so that the same 
members cannot avoid physically appearing without circumstances that justifies 

in en the state had to conduct business under stay-at-home orders 
during the pandemic, participation from home was essential as there was no 
other option. That is no longer the case, and has not been for quite some time. 

s should not be curtailed to accommodate 
public officials who can physically attend a meeting but simply choose not to.  

  
Appropriate exceptions can be made as needed for members who have a 
disability, are immunocompromised, or have children or other household 
members requiring certain consideration. We do not object to teleconferencing 
allowances for such individuals.   

 
In conversations with the Committee, some of these groups indicated they would like to 
see the reasons a member could participate remotely tightened up and be less broad. In 
light of this, the author may wish to amend the bill to clarify that a childcare or 
caregiving need is limited to a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, 
or domestic partner, as these terms are defined under the California Family Rights Act. 
(Gov. Code § 12945.2.) The specific amendment is in 5) below. 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 15 of 18
 

 

5. Proposed amendments5 
 
The proposed amendments are: 

Amendment 1 

On page 10, in line 25  

 
of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic partner 
 

Amendment 2 

 
 
 
those terms do in Section 12945.2.  
 

Amendment 3 

On page 17, in line 7  

 
of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic partner 
 

Amendment 4 

 
 
 
those terms do in Section 12945.2.  

 
6. Statements in support 
 
A coalition of public agencies and business organizations, including the sponsor of the 
bill Three Valleys Municipal Water District, write in support: 
 

The expiration of the Executive Orders immediately gave way to AB 361, 
essentially allowing for the teleconference provisions detailed in the Executive 
Orders to continue during a period of emergency declaration. However, once an 
emergency declaration has ended, local agencies will again be required to 
comply with antiquated provisions of existing law, making it potentially more 
difficult to hold meetings of the legislative body by teleconference. While current 

                                            
5 The amendments may also include technical, nonsubstantive changes recommended by the Office of 
Legislative Counsel. 
 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 16 of 18
 

 

under normal circumstances, it 
requires various actions to be taken at the teleconference locations and fails to 
recognize in the digital age that a teleconference location is wherever there is a 
person with a computer, a tablet, or even a mobile phone.  

  
AB 2449 will modernize the previously existing concept of teleconference 
locations and will revise notice requirements to allow for greater public 
participation in teleconference meetings of local agencies. The bill does not 
require teleconferencing. Rather, it modernizes existing law to ensure greater 
public participation in meetings of the legislative bodies of local agencies who 
choose to utilize teleconferencing. Similarly, in acknowledgement of the critical 
importance of maintaining transparency and accountability, the bill requires that 
a quorum of the governing body be physically present at a clearly identified 
meeting location for all public meetings.  

 
SUPPORT 

 
Three Valleys Municipal Water District (sponsor) 
Association of California Water Agencies   
Calleguas Municipal Water District   
California Municipal Utilities Association 
California Central Valley Flood Control Association 
California Builders Alliance  
Central Basin Municipal Water District 
Central Contra Costa Sanitary District    
City of Carlsbad 
City of Cupertino 
City of Rancho Palos Verdes 
Cucamonga Valley Water District 
Desert Water Agency 
Eastern Municipal Water District 
El Dorado Irrigation District 
Elsinore Valley Municipal Water District 
Foothill Municipal Water District 
Inland Empire Utilities Agency  
Los Angeles County LAFCO 
Los Angeles Unified School District 
Mesa Water District   
Metropolitan Water District of Southern California 
Municipal Water District Orange County 
Palmdale Water District 
Public Risk Innovation, Solutions and Management (PRISM) 
Regional Chamber of Commerce, San Gabriel Valley  
Regional Council of Southern California Association of Governments  



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 17 of 18
 

 

Regional Water Authority  
Rowland Water District 
San Bernardino Municipal Water Department 
San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District 
San Diego County Water Authority   
San Gabriel Basin Water Quality Authority 
San Gabriel Valley Council of Governments  
San Gabriel Valley Economic Partnership  
San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District 
San Gabriel Valley Water Association  
Santa Clarita Valley Water Agency 
Santa Margarita Water District 
Sacramento Regional Builders Exchange  
Solano County Board of Supervisors 
Solano County Water Agency 
Southern California Water Coalition (SCWC)   
Suburban Water Systems 
Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District 
Valley County Water District 
Walnut Valley Water District 
Water Replenishment District of Southern California 
Western Municipal Water District 

 
OPPOSITION 

 
ACLU California Action 
Association of California School Administrators (ACSA) 
Association of California Healthcare Districts (ACHD) 
Californians Aware: the Center for Public Forum Rights 
City Clerks Association of California (CCAC) 
County of Santa Barbara 
First Amendment Coalition 
Leadership Counsel for Justice and Accountability 
League of California Cities 
Rural County Representatives of California  
Urban Counties of California 
 

RELATED LEGISLATION 
 
Pending Legislation:  
 
SB 1100 (Cortese, 2022) authorizes the presiding member of a legislative body 
conducting a meeting to remove an individual for disrupting the meeting, as provided.  
SB 1100 is currently pending on the Assembly Floor. 



AB 2449 (Blanca Rubio)
Page 18 of 18
 

 

AB 1944 (Lee, 2022) authorizes, until January 1, 2030, members of a legislative body of a 
local agency to use teleconferencing without noticing their teleconference locations and 
making them publicly accessible under certain conditions. AB 1944 remains in the 
Senate Governance and Finance Committee.   

AB 2647 (Levine, 2022) exempts local agencies from making materials available for 
public inspection at the time they distribute them to members of the legislative body 
less than 72 hours before the meeting, if the agency meets certain requirements. AB 2647 
is currently pending in the Senate Governance and Finance Committee. 

Prior Legislation 
 

AB 361 (Robert Rivas, Ch. 165; Stats. 2021) see comment 2) above. 
 
AB 339 (Lee, 2021) would have required, until December 31, 2023, certain city council or 
county board of supervisors meetings to allow the public to attend and comment via 
telephone or internet. AB 339 was vetoed by Governor Newsom. 

 
PRIOR VOTES: 

 

Governance and Finance Committee (Ayes 5, Noes 0) 
Assembly Floor (Ayes 65, Noes 4) 
Assembly Local Government Committee (Ayes 7, Noes 1) 
 

************** 
 



AGENDA:     16. 

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
Memorandum

To: Chairperson John J. Bauters and Members
of the Board of Directors 

From: Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO 

Date: July 6, 2022 

Re: Vendor Selection for Financial and Compliance Audits

RECOMMENDED ACTION

The Board of Directors will consider:

1. Approving the selection of Simpson & Simpson, LLP to conduct the Financial Audits and 
Compliance Audits of the Transportation Fund for Clean Air (TFCA) programs and 
projects;

2. Authorizing the Executive Officer/APCO to execute a contract with Simpson & Simpson, 
LLP for up to a five-year term at the Air District’s discretion, based on the contractor’s 
performance, and for a total cost not to exceed $1,204,000.

BACKGROUND

The Bay Area Air Quality Management District’s (Air District) Administrative Code requires an 
annual independent audit of its annual financial statement consistent with Government Finance 
Office’s Association (GFOA) recommended practice for state and local government agencies 
(“Financial Audit”). The California Health and Safety Code Section 44242 requires the Air 
District to perform a program review of the Transportation Fund for Clean Air (TFCA) programs 
and projects that are funded with motor vehicle registration fee surcharges collected under 
Section 44241 at least every two years (“Compliance Audit”). The Air District’s Administrative 
Purchasing Procedures require the Air District to go out to bid for financial auditing services at 
least every five years. 

DISCUSSION

The Air District issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) on January 3, 2022, to solicit proposals 
for the following two deliverables:

1. Conduct the Air District’s Financial Audit for FYE 2023 with an option to extend for 
four additional years (up to a five-year term); and



2

2. Conduct a Program Review of TFCA-funded projects and programs that were closed out 
in FYE 2022 (and earlier) with an option to extend for four additional years (up to a five-
year term).

A notice announcing this RFP was emailed to 34 public sector audit firms in California and 
posted on the Air District’s website. Over 100 additional potential bidders were notified who 
had been signed up with the Air District to receive notifications of new RFPs. The notice was 
also posted on a page that announces available RFPs on the California Society of Municipal 
Finance Officers’ website. A pre-bidder’s webinar was held on January 10, 2022, for the 
purpose of providing an outline of the RFP requirements and an opportunity for Q&A. The Air 
District also received 68 questions from interested parties by the February 1 deadline and 
responses to these questions were posted on the Air District’s website by February 8, 2022.

The Air District received proposals from two firms by the February 16, 2022, deadline: Simpson 
& Simpson, LLP, and Badawi and Associates - CPA.

Evaluation of Proposals
A panel, comprised of four staff members representing the Finance Office and Strategic 
Incentives Division, evaluated and scored the proposals received based on the four evaluation 
criteria outlined in the RFP. The RFP evaluation criteria are listed below:

Expertise, Skill, & Approach: Technical expertise, size and structure of the firm and 
personnel assigned to RFP tasks; firm’s ability to perform and complete the work in a 
professional and timely manner. Past experience of the firm and, in particular, 
experience of the team working on projects of similar scope for other governmental 
agencies. Responsiveness of the proposal, based upon a clear understanding of the work 
to be performed.
Cost: Cost or cost effectiveness and resource allocation strategy.
References: References of the firm.
Firm’s Specialty Focus Area: Local business or Green Business

The panel then held a 30 minute interview with each of the bidders and asked them to respond to 
five additional questions. The evaluation criteria for the interview questions focused on a review 
of the following:

Expertise, Skill, & Approach: Technical expertise, size and structure of the firm and 
personnel assigned to RFP tasks; firm’s ability to perform and complete the work in a 
professional and timely manner. Past experience of the firm and, in particular, 
experience of the team working on projects of similar scope for other governmental 
agencies.
Cost: Resource allocation strategy with a focus on how applicants managed staffing and 
turnover during the pandemic.

The panel members’ scores for each criterion were averaged, and the two applicants were 
ranked according to the sum of these scores. Table 1 below lists the RFP evaluation criteria and 
shows each firm’s averaged score by criteria.



3

Table 1. Scoring of Proposals

Based on the evaluation criteria set forth in the RFP, staff recommends the award of a contract 
to Simpsons and Simpson LLP in the amount not to exceed $204,000 in contract years 1, 3 and 
5, and $296,000 in contract years 2 and 4. The difference, or higher, estimated costs for auditing 
services in the even-numbered years is due to the inclusion of TFCA County Program Manager 
fund projects, which are audited only every other year, rather than annually. The number of 
TFCA projects that are closed out and ready to be audited also varies from year to year.

Simpson & Simpson, LLP had the highest overall score, and scored highest on nearly all 
criteria. Simpson & Simpson, LLP, founded in 1976 in Los Angeles, California, operates as a 
partnership and firm of Certified Public Accountants and has been conducting business for over 
40 years, specializing in auditing, accounting, management consulting, and tax services to local 
governments, special districts, and nonprofit organizations. The firm has 40 professional staff 
members, and all its management level and higher professionals are certified public accountants.

Simpson and Simpson, LLP has extensive experience in audits of local governments and special 
districts and is the incumbent, currently serving as the independent auditors for the Air District. 
Simpson and Simpson have provided satisfactory audit services for the past four years with one 
year remaining under their current master service agreement with the Air District. Its clients also 
include the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD), for which it has 
conducted similar financial and compliance audits to those that are proposed for our District, 
and some of the largest governmental organizations in California, such as the City of Los 
Angeles and the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority. Over the past five 
years, it has provided financial audits to seven other major public agencies and special districts. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATION/FINANCIAL IMPACT

The costs associated with the FYE 2023 auditing services in the amount of $204,000 are 
included in the Air District’s FYE 2023 budget. Of which, $60,000 is included in the Finance 
Division’s General Fund budget for the financial audit and $144,000 is included in the Strategic 
Incentives Division's Special Fund budget for the TFCA program review. Future auditing service 
costs will be budgeted appropriately in the ordinary course of the Air District’s annual budget 
process. 



4

Respectfully submitted,

Sharon L. Landers
Interim Executive Officer/APCO

Prepared by: Minda Berbeco
Reviewed by: Karen Schkolnick and Stephanie Osaze

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  Simpson and Simpon 2022.116



Page 1 of 10

Contract No. 2022.116

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

MASTER SERVICES CONTRACT

CONTRACT NO. 2022.116

1. PARTIES – The parties to this Contract (“Contract”) are the Bay Area Air Quality Management District 
(“DISTRICT”) whose address is 375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA  94105, and Simpson & 
Simpson, LLP (“CONTRACTOR”) whose address is 633 West 5th Street, Suite 3320, Los Angeles, 
California 90071.

2. RECITALS
A. DISTRICT is the local agency with primary responsibility for regulating stationary source air 

pollution in the Bay Area Air Quality Management District in the State of California.  DISTRICT is 
authorized to enter into this Contract under California Health and Safety Code Section 40701.  
DISTRICT desires to contract with CONTRACTOR for Services as defined herein.  DISTRICT is 
entering into this Contract based on CONTRACTOR’s stated qualifications to perform the 
Services.

B. All parties to this Contract have had the opportunity to have this contract reviewed by their 
attorney.

3. DEFINITIONS
A. “Purchase Order” shall mean the written or electronic document used by DISTRICT to track 

payments to CONTRACTOR under this Contract.
B. “Services” shall mean the services to be provided by CONTRACTOR hereunder as generally 

described in the General Description of Services, attached hereto as Attachment A and made a 
part hereof by this reference, and as specifically described in Task Orders issued pursuant to this 
Contract.

C. “Task Order” shall mean a written request by DISTRICT for specific services to be performed by 
CONTRACTOR.

4. PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS
A. CONTRACTOR is authorized to do business in the State of California.  CONTRACTOR attests that 

it is in good tax standing with federal and state tax authorities.
B. CONTRACTOR agrees to obtain any and all required licenses, permits, and all other appropriate 

legal authorizations from all applicable federal, state and local jurisdictions and pay all 
applicable fees.

C. CONTRACTOR shall comply with all laws and regulations that apply to its performance under this 
Contract, including any requirements to disclose potential conflicts of interest under DISTRICT’s 
Conflict of Interest Code.

D. CONTRACTOR shall not engage in any performance of work during the term of this contract that 
is in direct or indirect conflict with duties and responsibilities set forth in the Scope of Work.

E. CONTRACTOR shall exercise the degree of skill and care customarily required by accepted 
professional practices and procedures.

F. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that any subcontractors, employees and agents performing under 
this Contract comply with the performance standards set forth in paragraphs A-E above.



Page 2 of 10

Contract No. 2022.116

5. TERM – The term of this Contract is from April 1, 2023 to March 31, 2028, unless further extended 
by amendment of this Contract in writing, or terminated earlier.  CONTRACTOR shall not submit any 
invoice for services performed under this Contract until the Contract is fully executed. 

6. TERMINATION
A. The DISTRICT may terminate this Contract at any time, at will, and without specifying any 

reason, by notifying CONTRACTOR in writing.  The notice of termination shall specify the 
effective date of termination, which shall be no less than thirty (30) calendar days from the date 
of delivery of the notice of termination, and shall be delivered in accordance with the provisions 
of section 13 below.  Immediately upon receipt of the notice of termination, CONTRACTOR shall 
cease all services under this Contract, except such services as are specified in the notice of 
termination.  CONTRACTOR shall deliver a final invoice for all remaining services performed but 
not billed, including any services specified in the termination notice, on or before ten (10) 
business days following the termination date.

B. Either party may terminate this Contract for breach by the other party.
i) Failure to perform any agreement or obligation contained in this Contract or failure to 

complete the services in a satisfactory manner shall constitute a breach of the Contract.
ii) The non-breaching party may terminate the Contract by delivery of a written notice of 

breach.  The notice of breach shall specify the date of termination, which shall be no earlier 
than ten (10) business days from delivery of the notice of breach.  In the alternative, at its 
sole discretion, the non-breaching party may require the breaching party to cure the breach.  
The notice of breach shall specify the nature of the breach and the date by which such 
breach must be cured.

iii) If CONTRACTOR fails to perform any obligation under this Contract, DISTRICT at its sole 
discretion, may perform, or cause the performance, of the obligation itself.  In that event, 
DISTRICT shall deduct the costs to perform such obligation and any other costs to cure the 
breach from the payment otherwise due to CONTRACTOR for work performed under this 
Contract.  DISTRICT’s performance hereunder shall not be deemed a waiver or release of 
any obligation of, or default by, CONTRACTOR under this Contract. 

iv) The notice of breach shall be provided in accordance with the notice requirements set forth 
in section 13.

v) The non-breaching party reserves all rights under law and equity to enforce this Contract 
and recover any damages.

7. INSURANCE
A. CONTRACTOR shall maintain the following insurance:

i) Workers’ compensation and employers’ liability insurance as required by California law or 
other applicable statutory requirements.

ii) Occurrence-based commercial general liability insurance or equivalent form with a limit of 
not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) each occurrence.  Such insurance shall include 
DISTRICT and its officers, agents, and employees as additional insureds and shall be primary 
with respect to any insurance maintained by DISTRICT.

iii) Business automobile liability insurance or equivalent form with a limit of not less than one 
million dollars ($1,000,000) each accident.  Such insurance shall include coverage for owned, 
hired, and non-owned vehicles.  If CONTRACTOR is a sole proprietor, CONTRACTOR may 
meet this insurance requirement with personal automobile liability insurance carrying a 



Page 3 of 10

Contract No. 2022.116

business use endorsement or by demonstrating to the satisfaction of DISTRICT that business 
use is covered under the CONTRACTOR’s personal automobile liability insurance.  A 
CONTRACTOR using only rental vehicles in performing work under this Contract may meet 
this insurance requirement by purchasing automobile liability insurance in the required 
coverage amount from the rental agency.

iv) Professional liability insurance with limits not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) each 
claim.

B. All insurance shall be placed with insurers acceptable to DISTRICT.
C. Prior to commencement of work under this Contract, CONTRACTOR shall furnish properly-

executed certificates of insurance for all required insurance.  Upon request by DISTRICT, 
CONTRACTOR shall provide a complete copy of any required insurance policy.  CONTRACTOR 
shall notify DISTRICT in writing thirty (30) days prior to cancellation or modification of any 
required insurance policy.  Any such modifications are subject to pre-approval by DISTRICT.

D. If CONTRACTOR fails to maintain the required insurance coverage set forth above, DISTRICT 
reserves the right either to purchase such additional insurance and to deduct the cost thereof 
from any payments owed to CONTRACTOR or to terminate this Contract for breach.

8. INDEMNIFICATION
A. CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold DISTRICT, its officers, employees and agents harmless 

from and against any and all liability, loss, expense, including reasonable attorneys' fees, or 
claims for injury or damages arising out of the performance of this Contract but only in 
proportion to and to the extent such liability, loss, expense, attorneys' fees, or claims for injury 
or damages are caused by or result from the negligent or intentional acts or omissions of 
CONTRACTOR, its officers, agents, or employees.

B. DISTRICT shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR, its officers, employees and agents harmless 
from and against any and all liability, loss, expense, including reasonable attorneys' fee, or 
claims for injury or damages arising out of the performance of this Contract but only in 
proportion to and to the extent such liability, loss, expense, attorneys' fees, or claims for injury 
or damages are caused by or result from the negligent or intentional acts or omissions of 
DISTRICT, its officers, agents, or employees.

9. AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE SERVICES
A. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to provide to DISTRICT, as DISTRICT may from time to time 

designate, such services as DISTRICT may order by Task Order, all in accordance with and subject 
to the terms, covenants and conditions of this Contract.  DISTRICT agrees to pay for these 
services ordered by DISTRICT in accordance with and subject to the terms, covenants and 
conditions of this Contract. 

B. All Task Orders issued by DISTRICT to CONTRACTOR for services during the term of this Contract 
are subject to the provisions of this Contract as though fully set forth in such Task Order.  In the 
event that the provisions of this Contract conflict with any Task Order issued by DISTRICT to 
CONTRACTOR, the provisions of this Contract shall govern.  No other terms and conditions, 
including, but not limited to, those contained in CONTRACTOR's standard printed terms and 
conditions, on CONTRACTOR's order acknowledgment, invoices or otherwise, shall have any 
application to or effect upon or be deemed to constitute an amendment to or to be 
incorporated into this Contract, any Task Order, or any transactions occurring pursuant hereto 
or thereto, unless this Contract shall be specifically amended to adopt such other terms and 
conditions in writing by the parties.



Page 4 of 10

Contract No. 2022.116

C. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract to the contrary, DISTRICT shall have no 
obligation to order or purchase any services hereunder and the placement of any Task Order 
shall be in the sole discretion of DISTRICT.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the 
actual quantity of services to be purchased hereunder shall be determined by DISTRICT in its 
sole discretion and shall not exceed (i) $204,000, each contract year, in contract year 1, 3 and 5; 
and (ii) $296,000, each contract year, in contract year 2 and 4. This Contract is not exclusive.  
CONTRACTOR expressly acknowledges and agrees that DISTRICT may purchase at its sole 
discretion, services that are identical or similar to the services described in this Contract from 
any third party.

10. TASK ORDERS – Each Task Order will specify the following items, as relevant: specific services 
requested, schedule for services, location where services are to be performed (with contact person), 
and cost or estimated cost of services.  Each Task Order issued under this Contract shall be made 
part of, and be incorporated into this Contract, and shall reference this Contract on the face of each 
Task Order.  Should any Task Order not conform to or satisfy the terms of this Contract, 
CONTRACTOR shall have five (5) business days after receipt to reject the Task Order.  By not 
rejecting the Task Order within five (5) business days, CONTRACTOR will have accepted the Task 
Order.  Acceptance by CONTRACTOR is limited to the provisions of this Contract and the Task Order.  
No additional or different provisions proposed by CONTRACTOR or DISTRICT shall apply.  In addition, 
the parties agree that this Contract and accepted Task Orders constitute a contract for services and 
satisfy all statutory and legal formalities of a contract.

11. PRICING, INVOICES, AND PAYMENT
A. DISTRICT shall pay CONTRACTOR for all services ordered and provided in compliance with the 

terms and conditions of this Contract and with Task Orders issued under this Contract.
B. CONTRACTOR shall submit original invoices to DISTRICT in form and substance and format 

reasonably acceptable to DISTRICT.  Each invoice, including supporting documentation, must be 
prepared in duplicate on CONTRACTOR’s letterhead; must list DISTRICT’s contract number, 
Purchase Order Number, and the CONTRACTOR’s Social Security Number or Federal Employer 
Identification Number; and must be submitted to:  Bay Area Air Quality Management District, 
375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA 94105, Attn: Contracts Manager.

C. Except as specifically set forth in Attachment A or in Task Orders under this Contract, DISTRICT 
shall not be responsible for any additional costs or expenses of any nature incurred by 
CONTRACTOR in connection with the provision of the services, including without limitation 
travel expenses, clerical or administrative personnel, long distance telephone charges, etc.

D. CONTRACTOR represents, warrants and covenants that the prices, charges and fees for services 
set forth in this Contract (on the whole) are at least as favorable as the prices, charges and fees 
CONTRACTOR charges (on the whole) to other of its customers or clients for the same or 
substantially similar services provided under the same or substantially similar circumstances, 
terms, and conditions.  If CONTRACTOR agrees or contracts with other clients or customers 
similarly situated during the Term of this Contract, and offers or agrees to financial terms more 
favorable than those set forth herein (on the whole), CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that it will 
reduce the prices, charges and/or fees charged to DISTRICT in respect of the services hereunder 
to the most favorable rates received by those other clients or customers.

12. DISPUTE RESOLUTION – A party that disputes a notice of breach must first seek mediation to resolve 
the dispute in accordance with the provisions set forth below.



Page 5 of 10

Contract No. 2022.116

A. Upon receipt of a notice of breach of contract, the party may submit a demand for mediation to 
resolve whether or not a breach occurred.  The party must state the basis of the dispute and 
deliver the demand within ten (10) business days of the date of receipt of the notice of breach.

B. The mediation shall take place at DISTRICT’s office at 375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, 
or at such other place as may be mutually agreed upon by the parties and the mediator.

C. The parties shall make good faith efforts to hold the mediation within thirty (30) days after 
receipt of the demand for mediation.

D. Each party shall bear its own mediation costs.
E. In the event the parties are unable to resolve the dispute, either party may file an action in a 

court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the Contract.
F. Maximum recovery under this section shall be limited to the total value of all Task Orders issued 

under this Contract.  The mediation costs shall not reduce the maximum amount recoverable 
under this section.

13. NOTICES – All notices that are required under this Contract shall be provided in the manner set forth 
herein, unless specified otherwise.  Notice to a party shall be delivered to the attention of the 
person listed below, or to such other person or persons as may hereafter be designated by that 
party in writing.  Notice shall be in writing sent by e-mail, facsimile, or regular first class mail.  In the 
case of e-mail and facsimile communications, valid notice shall be deemed to have been delivered 
upon sending, provided the sender obtained an electronic confirmation of delivery.  E-mail and 
facsimile communications shall be deemed to have been received on the date of such transmission, 
provided such date was a business day and delivered prior to 4:00 p.m. PST.  Otherwise, receipt of e-
mail and facsimile communications shall be deemed to have occurred on the following business day.  
In the case of regular mail notice, notice shall be deemed to have been delivered on the mailing date 
and received five (5) business days after the date of mailing.

DISTRICT: Bay Area Air Quality Management District
375 Beale Street, Suite 600
San Francisco, CA  94105
Attn: Minda Berbeco

CONTRACTOR: Simpson & Simpson, LLP
644 West 5th Street, Suite 3320
Los Angeles, CA 90071
Attn: Melba W. Simpson

14. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS – All attachment(s) to this Contract are expressly incorporated herein by 
this reference and made a part hereof as though fully set forth.

15. EMPLOYEES OF CONTRACTOR
A. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the cost of regular pay to its employees, as well as cost of 

vacation, vacation replacements, sick leave, severance pay, and pay for legal holidays.
B. CONTRACTOR, its officers, employees, agents, or representatives shall not be considered 

employees or agents of DISTRICT, nor shall CONTRACTOR, its officers, employees, agents, or 
representatives be entitled to or eligible to participate in any benefits, privileges, or plans, given 
or extended by DISTRICT to its employees.



Page 6 of 10

Contract No. 2022.116

C. CONTRACTOR shall assign those employees listed in the Cost Schedule to perform services 
under this Contract.  CONTRACTOR shall not assign different employees to perform these 
services without the express written permission of DISTRICT, which DISTRICT will not 
unreasonably withhold.

D. DISTRICT reserves the right to review the credentials to perform the services for any of 
CONTRACTOR’s employees assigned herein and to disapprove CONTRACTOR’s assignments.  
CONTRACTOR warrants that it will not employ any subcontractor(s) without prior written 
approval from DISTRICT.

16. CONFIDENTIALITY – In order to carry out the purposes of this Contract, CONTRACTOR may require 
access to certain of DISTRICT’s confidential information (including trade secrets, inventions, 
confidential know-how, confidential business information, and other information that DISTRICT 
considers confidential) (collectively, “Confidential Information”).  It is expressly understood and 
agreed that DISTRICT may designate in a conspicuous manner Confidential Information that 
CONTRACTOR obtains from DISTRICT, and CONTRACTOR agrees to:
A. Observe complete confidentiality with respect to such information, including without limitation, 

agreeing not to disclose or otherwise permit access to such information by any other person or 
entity in any manner whatsoever, except that such disclosure or access shall be permitted to 
employees of CONTRACTOR requiring access in fulfillment of the services provided under this 
Contract.

B. Ensure that CONTRACTOR’s officers, employees, agents, representatives, and independent 
contractors are informed of the confidential nature of such information and to assure by 
agreement or otherwise that they are prohibited from copying or revealing, for any purpose 
whatsoever, the contents of such information or any part thereof, or from taking any action 
otherwise prohibited under this section.

C. Not use such information or any part thereof in the performance of services to others or for the 
benefit of others in any form whatsoever whether gratuitously or for valuable consideration, 
except as permitted under this Contract.

D. Notify DISTRICT promptly and in writing of the circumstances surrounding any possession, use, 
or knowledge of such information or any part thereof by any person or entity other than those 
authorized by this section.  Take at CONTRACTOR’s expense, but at DISTRICT’s option and in any 
event under DISTRICT’s control, any legal action necessary to prevent unauthorized use of such 
information by any third party or entity which has gained access to such information at least in 
part due to the fault of CONTRACTOR.

E. Take any and all other actions necessary or desirable to assure such continued confidentiality 
and protection of such information during the term of this Contract and following expiration or 
termination of the Contract.

F. Prevent access to such materials by a person or entity not authorized under this Contract.
G. Establish specific procedures in order to fulfill the obligations of this section.

17. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS – Title and full ownership rights to all intellectual property 
developed under this Contract shall at all times remain with DISTRICT, unless otherwise agreed to in 
writing.  

18. PUBLICATION
A. DISTRICT shall approve in writing any report or other document prepared by CONTRACTOR in 

connection with performance under this Contract prior to dissemination or publication of such 



Page 7 of 10

Contract No. 2022.116

report or document to a third party.  DISTRICT may waive in writing its requirement for prior 
approval.

B. Until approved by DISTRICT, any report or other document prepared by CONTRACTOR shall 
include on each page a conspicuous header, footer, or watermark stating “DRAFT – Not 
Reviewed or Approved by BAAQMD,” unless DISTRICT has waived its requirement for prior 
approval pursuant to paragraph A of this section.

C. Information, data, documents, or reports developed by CONTRACTOR for DISTRICT, pursuant to 
this Contract, shall be part of DISTRICT’s public record, unless otherwise indicated.  
CONTRACTOR may use or publish, at its own expense, such information, provided DISTRICT 
approves use of such information in advance.  The following acknowledgment of support and 
disclaimer must appear in each publication of materials, whether copyrighted or not, based 
upon or developed under this Contract.

“This report was prepared as a result of work sponsored, paid for, in whole or in part, by the 
Bay Area Air Quality Management District (District).  The opinions, findings, conclusions, and 
recommendations are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the views of the 
District.  The District, its officers, employees, contractors, and subcontractors make no 
warranty, expressed or implied, and assume no legal liability for the information in this 
report.”

D. CONTRACTOR shall inform its officers, employees, and subcontractors involved in the 
performance of this Contract of the restrictions contained herein and shall require compliance 
with the above.

19. NON-DISCRIMINATION – In the performance of this Contract, CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate in 
its recruitment, hiring, promotion, demotion, and termination practices on the basis of race, 
religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, marital status, sexual orientation, medical 
condition, or physical or mental disability and shall comply with the provisions of the California Fair 
Employment & Housing Act (Government Code Section 12900 et seq.), the Federal Civil Rights Act of 
1964 (P.L. 88-352) and all amendments thereto, and all administrative rules and regulations issued 
pursuant to said Acts.  CONTRACTOR shall also require each subcontractor performing services in 
connection with this Contract to comply with this section and shall include in each contract with 
such subcontractor provisions to accomplish the requirements of this section.

20. PROPERTY AND SECURITY – Without limiting CONTRACTOR’S obligations with regard to security, 
CONTRACTOR shall comply with all the rules and regulations established by DISTRICT for access to 
and activity in and around DISTRICT’s premises.

21. ASSIGNMENT – No party shall assign, sell, license, or otherwise transfer any rights or obligations 
under this Contract to a third party without the prior written consent of the other party, and any 
attempt to do so shall be void upon inception.

22. WAIVER – No waiver of a breach, of failure of any condition, or of any right or remedy contained in 
or granted by the provisions of this Contract shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by 
the party waiving the breach, failure, right, or remedy.  No waiver of any breach, failure, right, or 
remedy shall be deemed a waiver of any other breach, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver 
constitute a continuing waiver unless the writing so specifies.  Further, the failure of a party to 



Page 8 of 10

Contract No. 2022.116

enforce performance by the other party of any term, covenant, or condition of this Contract, and 
the failure of a party to exercise any rights or remedies hereunder, shall not be deemed a waiver or 
relinquishment by that party to enforce future performance of any such terms, covenants, or 
conditions, or to exercise any future rights or remedies.

23. ATTORNEYS’ FEES – In the event any action is filed in connection with the enforcement or 
interpretation of this Contract, each party shall bear its own attorneys’ fees and costs.

24. FORCE MAJEURE – Neither DISTRICT nor CONTRACTOR shall be liable for or deemed to be in default 
for any delay or failure in performance under this Contract or interruption of services resulting, 
directly or indirectly, from acts of God, enemy or hostile governmental action, civil commotion, 
strikes, lockouts, labor disputes, fire or other casualty, judicial orders, governmental controls, 
regulations or restrictions, inability to obtain labor or materials or reasonable substitutes for labor 
or materials necessary for performance of the services, or other causes, except financial, that are 
beyond the reasonable control of DISTRICT or CONTRACTOR, for a period of time equal to the period 
of such force majeure event, provided that the party failing to perform notifies the other party 
within fifteen calendar days of discovery of the force majeure event, and provided further that that 
party takes all reasonable action to mitigate the damages resulting from the failure to perform.  
Notwithstanding the above, if the cause of the force majeure event is due to party’s own action or 
inaction, then such cause shall not excuse that party from performance under this Contract.  

25. SEVERABILITY – If a court of competent jurisdiction holds any provision of this Contract to be illegal, 
unenforceable or invalid in whole or in part for any reason, the validity and enforceability of the 
remaining provisions, or portions of them will not be affected.

26. HEADINGS – Headings on the sections and paragraphs of this Contract are for convenience and 
reference only, and the words contained therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify, 
or aid in the interpretation, construction, or meaning of the provisions of this Contract.

27. COUNTERPARTS/FACSIMILES/SCANS – This Contract may be executed and delivered in any number 
of counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original, and all of 
which together shall constitute the same contract.  The parties may rely upon a facsimile copy or 
scanned copy of any party’s signature as an original for all purposes.

28. GOVERNING LAW – Any dispute that arises under or relates to this Contract shall be governed by 
California law, excluding any laws that direct the application of another jurisdiction’s laws.  Venue 
for resolution of any dispute that arises under or relates to this Contract, including mediation, shall 
be San Francisco, California.

29. ENTIRE CONTRACT AND MODIFICATION – This Contract represents the final, complete, and exclusive 
statement of the agreement between the parties related to CONTRACTOR providing services to 
DISTRICT and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings and agreements of the 
parties.  No party has been induced to enter into this Contract by, nor is any party relying upon, any 
representation or warranty outside those expressly set forth herein.  This Contract may only be 
amended by mutual agreement of the parties in writing and signed by both parties.



Page 9 of 10

Contract No. 2022.116

30. SURVIVAL OF TERMS – The provisions of sections 8 (Indemnification), 16 (Confidentiality), 17 
(Intellectual Property Rights), and 18 (Publication) shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to this Contract have caused this Contract to be duly executed on 
their behalf by their authorized representatives.

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY SIMPSON & SIMPSON, LLP
MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

By: ________________________________ By: ________________________________
Sharon Landers Melba W. Simpson, CPA
Interim Executive Officer/APCO Managing Partner

Date: ________________________________ Date: ________________________________

Approved as to form:
District Counsel

By: ________________________________
Alexander Crockett
District Counsel



Page 10 of 10

Contract No. 2022.116

Attachment A
General Description of Services

Pursuant to Task Orders specifying deliverables, delivery dates, and compensation, CONTRACTOR shall:

Conduct annual compliance audits of the DISTRICT’s Transportation Fund for Clean Air (TFCA) 
program. The compliance audit will cover TFCA funded projects completed in fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2022, 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026.

For the purpose of the compliance audit, the DISTRICT considers a project to be completed 
when the DISTRICT or a County Program Manager accepts and approves a project sponsor’s final 
invoice, which documents the project sponsor’s expenditure of all eligible project funds.  For 
service-based projects, the audit will be conducted after project work has been completed.  For 
vehicle-based projects, the audit will be conducted after all funded equipment has been placed 
into service. 

Perform annual financial statement audits of the DISTRICT for the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2023, 2024, 2025, 2026, and 2027 in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and in accordance with 
government auditing standards.


